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Chapter I

109000 JCT Lo

Zor the purposes of tinls study, worthwest .ansas is
defined as that area lying to tae north and west ol Saline
County, uwansas. The area is bounded on the south vy the
northern boundaries of lic Pherson, Rice, Barton, Rush,
less, Lane, Scott, Wichita and Greeley Counties. Un the
east it is bounded by the western boundaries of Dickinson,
Clay, and Washington Counties. The area is bounded on
the west by Colorado and on the north by lebrasika. One
Indian battle described in the study, that of Forsyth's
command on the Arickaree, occurred outside the defined area.
This battle is included because of its close relation to
the Indian difficulties in Northwest iiansas.

In a study ol this nature, in which the events
occurred over seventy years agso, onc finds it difficult
to verify absolutely every event that is said to have
occurred., Accounts of some raids anpear in this study
based mainly on secondary sources., lherever possible thelr
accuracy has been verified by checking such accounts of
the same raid against each other and by checking such
primary source references as may be available. Primary
source accounts of these raids are provbably not absolutely

accurate in every detail. Eyewitnesses to the same event
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often relate storles differing in detail., Z“articularly
would this be true of an event as stirring as an Indian
raid. The men on the frontier lived in a state of constant
suspense during the summer months when the Indians raided.
An event occurring in iay, 1867, on the Smoky Hill Trail
indicates the difficulty in ascertaining the true Tacts
about these raids. During that month the grass again
became green, and ranch stations along the Smoly Hill Trail
reported depredations. One of the ranchers rode in one
afternoon to Fort Hays reporting that he had seen about
two hundred Indians in the vicinity of Lookout Station.
When he investigated he found them to be Cheyennes, so he
stated. Later in his story he said the Indians numbered
four or five hundred. He claimed he approached to within
sixty yards of them and had barely escaped capture.
General George A. Custer decided to malie a night attack

on this band. Proceedin; to Lookou. Station, he found the
station alerted, but he found no soldier who had seen the
Indians. He found the s‘tage men and carpenters busily
engaged in a poker game in one cave. One of them stated
ne had seen what he took to be Indians. A close investi-
gation of the spot where the Indians had revortedly been,

disclosed nothing except tracks left by a herd of bufralo.l

1., Theodore R. Davis, "A Summer on the Plains,"
Harper's New Monthly, XXXVI, (February, 1868), 298.
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The purpose of this study is to explore a portion
of the frontier history of Kansas. In doing this, an
appreclation for the sacrificcs made by the lrontiersmen,
the army, and the settlers in opening Northwest Kansas [or
settlement should be attained. The study will also treat
the relation of this partlicular oroblem of Indian raids to
the Indian problem as a whole. This will show that the
risht of tﬁe controversy was not always on the side ol the
white man.
The modern reader may find it di.ficult to visualize
a country of virgin grassland where today there are
cultivated fields. He may find it hard to picture streams
of clear water running only o' f grassy land. A vivid
Imagination would be required to conjure up a burfalo
herd in the mind's eye, or to see a country not cut up by
roads and highways. All of these things, and more, must
the reader imagine if he is to re-live the stirring
episodes descrived in this work. General Philip Sheridan
glves a good description of the plains area in general
which it might be well to bear in mind while reading.
e o« o With the exception of a half-dozen
military posts and a Ifew stations on the two
overland emigrant routes . . . this country was
unsettled waste known only to the Indians and a
few trappers. There were ncither roads nor

well-marked trails, and the only timber to be
found--which generally grew only along the




streams--was so scraggy and worthless as hardly
to deserve the name. lior was water Ly any rieans
plentiful, even though the section is traversed
by important streams, the hkepublican, the >rioky
Hill, the Arkansas, the Cimarron, and the
Canadian all flowing eastwardly, as do also their
tributaries in the main. These feeders are
sometimes long and crooked, but as a general thing
the volume of water is insignificant excent arfter
rain falls. ‘Then, because of unimpeded drainage,
the 1little streams fill up rapidly with torrents
of water, which quicizly flows or sinks into the
sand, leaving only an occasional pool without
visible inlet or outlet.,

2. Philip H., Sheridan, Personal l.emoirs of r.l.
Sheridant General United States army (liew York:
Charles L. Webster and Compauny, 1888), II, pp. 2086-297,
Hereafter cited: Sheridan, lLeroirs.




Chapter II
CAUSES r'OR INDIAW UPRISINGS
Indian Policy of the Federal Government

The covernment of the United States from its incep-
tion had treated Indians as nations not as individuals.
Chiefs signed treaties which they laclied the authority to
enforce. General Wwilliam T. Sherman in 1867 characterized
the Indian government as a "pure democracy" in which each
man did as he pleased regardless of the chiefs. e warned
that it was foolish to make treaties with the chilefs then
acknowledge the tribe as peaceful., He wanted laws binding
on all Indians alike thus making it possible for the mili-
tary to know what to enforce.

After treaties were made the Interior Department,
with its civilian agents, handled r oney disbursement and
distrioution of presents under the treaties. This depart-
rment also managed the Indian reservations. ‘'he military,
however, was responsible for the protection of settlements

and transportation routes. Their attitude toward the

l. Letter to Secretary of War, July 1, 1867, in
Annual feport of the Secretary of War, 1867, found in
TAnnual L.essage of the lresident." 40 Cong., 2 Sess.,
House Executive Document No. 1, v. II, Pt. I, p. 67.
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management of Indians was well stated by General Sherman:
e o o the entire managermient of the Indians should

be controlled by the military authorities, and . . .

the commanding officers of the troops should have

not only the surveillance of these Indians, but

should supervise and control the disbursement of

moneys and distribution of presents tg the tribes

under past and future treaties. . . .
This quarrel between the nilitary and the civilian arents
of the government continued thiroughout the period under
study. Divided control made an effective Lolicy impossible.
When Indian troubles did break out each agency tried to
nlace the resoonsibility for the trouble on the other,

Another fundamental fault of tne naticnal govern-

ment's Indian policy was the removal of Indians from
areas into which white settlers were moving. The Indian
Peace Commission, appointed under Act of Congress, July
20, 1867, to establish peace with certain hostile Indian
tribes, said of this policy: "Surely the policy was not

designed to perpetuate barbarism, bu. such has been 1ts

effect.,"® Under the policy the Indians were nlaced in

2. heport from Hdq. liil., Div. of Ilissouri St. Louis,
Nov. 5, 1866, Annual tleport of the Secretary of var, 1366
found in "Annual liessage of the President, 39 Cong., 2
Sess., House Executive Document No. 1, v. III, p. 20,

3. '"Report of Indian feace Commissioners," 40 Con_.,
2 Sess., House Executive Document ilo. 97 (January 14, 1863),
P. 17.




-
regions beyond where agriculture was practiced. din such
a region, contended the commission, the Indians could only
chase game.4 A nomadic hunting peonle could not readily be
converted to a settled agricultural »eople when they were
forced onto land which even the whites ITelt was not
suitable foir farming.

Agreements with the Indians were not always lkent.
In 1851 a treaty was negotliated setting the boundaries of
Cheyenne and Arapahoe lands so they included a large part
of the territory of Colorado and most of western nansas.,
The Indians granted to the United States the »i:ht to
establish roads and military posts. The treaty as
negotiated would have given the Indians 50,000 anuually
for fifty years from the federal treasury. The Senate
substituted "ten years" for "firty years" and authorized
the president to continue payments five years longer.5
The Indian regarded this as a breach of laith.

Detween 1851 and 1861 the white man had discovered
gold and silver in Colorado and had talien nossession of
lands for mining. They had founded cities, establisned

farms, and opened roads. by 1861 thcey had driven the

4, "heport of ndian Jeace Commissioners," ». 17.

5. .:E_b—j—_i" p' 6.
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Cheyenne s and Arapahoes down upon the headwaters of the
Arkansas River. The treaty signed in 1851 had said:

"The United States bind themselves to protect

the aforesaid Indian natlions against the

coumission of all depredations by the peonle

of the United States after the ratification

of this treaty."®
The action of the white settlers was in viclation o) Loc
treaty provisions jet the Zederal sovermient took no
action to enforce treaty pirovisions,

In a treaty sisned February 1O, 1361, at ort Wise,
Kansas, the whites confined the Arapahoe and Cheyenne
Indians to a smaller district "beginning at the mouth of
the Purgatory River to the northern boundary of the
Territory of New liexico; thence west alon: said boundary
to the Sandy Tork to the place of the beginning.”7 This
gave the Indians a reservation on both sides oi tae
Arlkansas fiver and included the te»ritory around Fort Lyon,
Colorado. This same treaty promised the.United States

would protect the Indians "in the quiet and peaceable

possession" of this new territory. The United States

6. "Report of Indian feace Commissioners,'" p. 7.

7. Ibid.
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would pay each tribe 30,000 per annum for rifteen years,
The treaty also provided that houses shouzld be built,
lands broken up and fenced, and stock animals and acric-
ultural tocls furnished.®

There followed idovember 25, 1864, Colonel Chiv-
ington's massacre of the Indians near Fort Lyons Colorado.
After this came the Indlan raids on settlements and trans-
portation routes in 1865, In an attempt to put down the
Indians by force, the federal govermient killed fi_teen
or twenty Indians at an expe.ise of more than a nillion
dollars apiece. Added to this expense was ticec loss of
goldiers and settlers »lus the property destroyed by the
Indians. The futility of a conquering peace was evident.
In VUctober, 1365, Generals Harney, Sanborn and others
called a council of the hostiles at the mouth bf the
Little Arkansas. They asked that the Cheyennes and the
Arapahoes give up their reservation on the upper Ariian-
sas and accent in return a reservation partly in
southern «ansas and partly in -ndian territory imiediately
south of Forts bLarned and Zarah. Accordin- to the third
article or this treaty tne Indians were to bLe periiiitted

to hunt between the Arkansas and Platte :ivers. This

8. "Report of Indian feace Comissioners,'" p. 7,

L
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was the territory tnc two trivbcs clalm.d as orl inally
theirs. When the tieaty went to the Senate, the dansas
legislatu.e inslsted that the president designate a
reservation outside ol Iansas fox tie tribes and not
allow them to go on the reservation of any other Indians

without thelr consent. “Yhis complied with, all that weas

lelt for thcse Indlan tribes was tlhe hunting Driviile e.
They were not welcomed oa the reservations in the ndian
territory, and the treaty excluded <hienl _rom gouthern
nansas. Jmnediately after thie ratification cf this
treaty, howvever, there was couparative neace on the
frontier. General +#illiam T. oheiv.an was able to travel
10
through thc area without escort.

In Hovember, 13565, .reneral ~herian »dropnosed to
xeep the Sioux Indians north of the +Jlatte iiver, west
of the liissouri River, and east o the new road sor
lontana which started Zrom Laramie lJor Virginia City by
way of Forts .eno, .hilip, wearney, and C. 7. Smith.
He proposed also to lee. tiie Aravaliocs, viielenes,

Comanche s, .lowas, Apaches, and .avajoes south ol the

"eport orf indian reace Cowriissione:

o}
.
v
44}
-

10, Ibid., ». 10.
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Arkansas ftiver and east ol I'ort Union. YLhis would leave
a broad belt between che Jlatte and t..e aransos -iivers

11

uninhabited by Indians. Sherian »roposed Shis nlan

providing there were no treaties preventi:i, its executlon.
This is oproof that the military were not kedt as well in-
formed as they should have been by tie federal Jovernneat
regarding Indian »olicy and the treaties made. The treaty
of 1856 obviously prevented suchh a scnerie beln ; put into
operation.l2

The floundering, uncoordinated, unrealistic policy
of the United States government clearly was partially
responsible Tor the Indian depredations committed on the
frontier. Lt left the Cheyennes and Arapahoes without a
home and with hunting ovrivileges in a region soon to be
settled. The policy instilled in the Indian a distrust
of government o ficials. <t left m litary o . icials,
charged with protecting the _rontier, ignorant oi' the
treaties already negotiated. lioreover, the policy tieated
with Indian tribes as nations havin- a responsible ~ovirn-
ment, when as a matter oir fact, +ndian caiertalns lacited

he authority olten ascribed to them by w/hite nei,

11. Annual vevort of the Secretary of .ar, 1866,

p. 21l.

12. "Report of Indian feace Commissioners,'" »p. 13,
14,



Disappearance of the ~ouffalo

The threat of being deprived of his main sustenance,
the buffalo, by the encroachment ol whiie settlers and
hunters on his hunting grounds so concerncd t..e plains
Indian that it was a factor some:timss vesvonsible Torr his
golng on a rampage. Trauslortation routes into Lo area
also wee a threat to the herd since tiey divided tae
herd, and were a means 0. shipnin: the hides to the ~asti
wvhere they were much in demand.

The buffalo represented food, shelter, clothing,
and heat to the nomadic hunting tribes, the flesh being
used for food, the skin for tepees and clothing, and
the chips for fuel. Theodore Pgvis who observed the
culture of the slains -ndian stated tiat ". . . thcre is
scarcely a nanu.acctured article, bLast e avorigine used
but what one may discover that sonc _ortion ol t.2 o alo
has becen used in the construction ol it."15 Little
wonder then that the Indian resented the encroachment of
the whites on his huntinc ground.

Theodore Javis traveled Ly stage on the Smoky Hill
Route in November, 1865. Ke mentionzd passing Ellsworth,

Kansas, in the evening of November 18, 1865, and being in

13. Theodore li. Davis, "Buflalo nange," Harper's
New l.onthly, XXXVILI (December, 1868), 153.
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buffalo country before sunrise. &e si hted thousands of

4 - . . .
14 Mr, Davis in

buffalo his rirst day in indian country.
a later trip expressed his amusenent at old aunters who
tried to calculate the exact number of buffalc remaininc.
He noted that the number had certainly decreased arlter
1858, They had been p:essed viestward in --ansas and
liebraska a hundred miles. The, were no lonjer ransing
u» to the rlatte in the - reat numbers tiie, once nad.
Further lir. Davis emphasized that:

", . . the Indians are ever bringin: lorward

the fact in tneir powwows wilili corriissioners,
that soon the buffalo will be .one, and the
red brother must keep veace with the white
and eat nis "spotted oculfalc! (Indian for
dorestic cattle). . . .19

Davis believed that the Indians and buffalo had been
tioved about as far west as thiey couvld well 30.16
In 1868 there were large numbers of buffalo in
western bLansas. Travelers on the -.ansas Pacific rail-
road saw almost an unbroken herd of buffalo from the

time they left Ellsworth until they arrived at Sheridan

near the Colorado border. Trains haod to stop to wait

14, Theodoie ii. Davis, "A Stasc liide to Colorado,"
Harper's lew lLonthly, .CXV (July, 1367), 140, 141.

M=y, 2

15. Davis, "Buiffalo :zan.e," p. 152.

16, Ibid., p. 153.
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for unusually large herds to pass over the tracks.l7
In the summer of 1870 lMrs. George A. Custer, wife of
the famed Indian fighter, said that it was necessary
to travel some miles from Fort Hays to find buffalo in
abundance.18

In 1868~69 the universal herd of buffalo had been
divided by the Union Pacific main line. A strip fifty
miles wide, with the railroad in the center, was barren
of buffalo. Thus were the buffalo divided into north and
south herds.19 The most prized feeding ground of the
southern herd became the area between the South Platte
and Arkansas Rivers. Many wintered there while others

20

went south for the winter. Colonel R. I. Dodge in his

Plains of the Great West told of traveling through a herd

of buffalo on a trip from 0ld Fort Zarah to Fort Larned
on the Arkansas in May, 1871, At least twenty-five miles

of the distance of thirty-four miles was through an immense

17, William F. Hornaday, "The Extermination of the
American Bison . . ." Annual Report of the Smithsonian
Institution, Part II, 1887 (Washington: Government Printing
Office, 1889), p. 391. Hereaftér cited Hornaday,
Extermination of American Eison.

18. Mrs. Elizabeth (Bacon) Custer, Following the
Guidon (New York: Harper and Brothers, 1890), p. 219.

19. Hornaday, Extermination of American Bison, p.

492,

20. Ibid., p. 493. Citing Colonel . I, Dodge,
Plains of tie Great West.
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herd of buffalo made up of smaller herds. Colonel Dodge
wrote to Mr. Hornaday September 21, 1887, giving figures
which the latter used in estimating that the total number
of buffalo in that one vast herd would have been nearly a
half million and could not have been less than four hundred
thousand.<l

As late as 1870 there were several million head
of buffalo. Up to that time the white man had killed
mainly for meat. With the building of three railroad
lines through the main buffalo country there was a great
demand for robes and hides. New breech-loading rifles
with fixed ammunition facilitated the slaughter. The
great southern herd was "literally cut to pieces' by
the Kansas Division of the Union Pacific. These rail-

%2  @able I

roads also made the herd easily accessible.
shows the slaughter for three years based on estimates

of Colonel Dodge. During the period covered by the table
the Indians killed 390,000 buffaloc while the settlers and
mountain Indians accounted for 150,000 of them. This
added to the 3,158,730 accounted for by the table would

make a total for the three year period of 5,698,750.25

21. Hornaday, Extermination of American Bison,
pp. 390, 391.

22. Ibid., p. 493.
25, Ibid., p. 499.
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TABLE I. EXTiIMIWATION 00 SOULILAT BUFFALO HESD, 1872-1674°%%
Hides Hides Total Total | Totel of
shipped shipped number number Bulfalo
by S. X by other of killed zilled
Railway roads Burfalo and by whites

(esti- utilized| wasted

Year mated)

1872 |165,721 331,442 497,163 994,326 | 1,491,489
1873 |251, 443 502,686 754,329 754,329 | 1,508,658
1874 | 42,289 84,578 126,867 31,716 158, 585
Total|45%,455 | 918,906 |1,376,550 |1,780,461 |3,150,750

The extermination of the bulfalo, regarded by the
plains Indians as a threat to their way of life, was re-
garded by the white man as a means of helping to solve the
Indian problem. The indian Peace Commission in 1868 stated
that "when the Lulfalo i1s sone the Indians will cease to
hunt. A Tew years ol peace and the  amne will have dJdis-
appearedﬂ25 When the Texas le;jislatu.e contermnlated the
passage of a bill to protect the hburlfalo, Ceneral Sheridan
appeared before a joint session to protest i1ts nassage.
de i1s sald to have emphaslzed the ood done by tiie hunters
in exterminating bu.falo and recoiriended they be iven a
medal. Iie felt that this destruction would hel»n ma.e
possible an advanced civilization:

These men have done in the last two years and
willl do moire in the next year, to settle the

(]
Y

24, Hornaday, Exte:mination of Americon fison, p. 4

25, "heport of indian FPeace Cormissioners,'" p. 23.
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vexed Indian guestlion, Tthan tic sl -e re ular
arny nas done in tae last tnire; 7..rs. They
are destroyin thc Indians' Cormissary; and
1t 1s a well-imown FYact that an ar. 3y losia; i:s
base of sup-lics is placed at a 5ress disaavantase.
U

£oc
Send then powder and lead, if yo. will; wut Tor ihe
sake of a lasting »eace, let them xill, skin, and
sell until the busfalo are extemninated. en
your prairies can be covered with soeciilz 1 cattle,
and tnc festive cowboy, wao follows the hunter ag.
a second i'orerunner of an advanced civilization.=°
Indians, particularly youn- braves, did 5o on the war »Hath
while hunting buffalo. Also as lon:; as there were bu:flalo
in plentiful supply the Indian was not content to settle

down to a simprle agricultural existence.
Chivington's l.assacre

One of the causes for the outbreaks of Indian
violence in the latter halfl of tne 1860's was considered
to be the attack of Colonel J. L, Chivin-ton on the
Indians near vort Lyons, volorado, 'lovember 2v, 1664,27

Several minor skirmishes led up to the massacre.
A ranchman named dipley claimed that Indians stolsz stock
from him on the South Platte April 12, 1864. An arny

force comranded by a Lieutenant Dunn went with iinley who

26, John R. Cooi, The —order aud the Duffalo:
An Untold Story of the Southwest ~lains (Topeiia: Crane
and Company, 1907), ». 113.

27. "The Indian Wwar," .arper's .eekly, (June 15,

1867), p. 371.
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claimed certain stock when they came upon Indians. The
Lieutenant asked certain Indians to come foreward and
ordered them disarmed. A struggle ensued. Following
this in May, Major Downing of the First Colorado Cavalry
destroyed Cedar Bluffs, an Indian village. Still later
the whites murdered an Indian chief under a flag of truce.
After these altgrcations, Black Kettle and other chiefs
of the Cheyenne and Arapahoe nations sent word to Fort
Lyon that war had been forced upon them and they desired
peace. Major E. W, Wynkoop of the First Colorado Cavalry
thereupon gave a pledge of military protection. He
went with seven of the chiefs to confer with the governor
of Colorado regarding peace. The governor proved un-
yielding and Wynkoop later in sworn testimony stated the
governor had said that, "the third regiment of Colorado
troops had been raised on his representations at Wash-
ington, to kill Indians and Indians they must kill,"28
Ma jor Wynkoop returned to Fort Lyon and ordered the
Indians to move the villages with their wives and children
nearer to the fort. In November Wynkoop was removed
from his command and was replaced by Major Anthony of the
First Colorado Cavalry. He repeated the promises of

protection made by his predecessor.

28. "Report of Indian Peace Commissioners," p. 9.
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It was here, near rort Lyon, at darli ho on

5

Hovemver 2., 1864, tnat the Third Colorado Cavalry and

i

a part of the if'irst Colorado Cavalry under Colonel

J. 1. Chivington's coui.and slaughtered the Indians.
Spealting ol the infamous event the Indian Peace
Commissioners said:

Lt is enourh to say, that it scarcely has

its parallel in the records o. Indiian barbarity.
Fleeing women holdin' - up their hands and praying
for mercy werc brutally shot down; infants were
killed and scalped in derision, men were tortured
and mutilated in a wanner that =would nut to shaile
ths savape Ingenulty o interior Africa.?

O

Of the ei¢ht comnlssioners, one was a Lieutenant L cneral
of the United States army and three were breveted major
cenerals., If military men, who believed that the only way
to stop the Indians was by force, conli sicn treir naes
to This report then tae event must have becn fully as

brutal as it was describved. 1ilo wonder tie -ndlan went on

the warpath.

Extent of Settlenient

Trouble with the indians usually occurred on the
sparsely settled [rontier in cases wiere tiiey actually

attacked settlements. Settlers on “tie froatier were o ten

2¢, "Recort of the Indian Peace Comriissioners,'" ».
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isolated in rezlons not deisely enow h populated to protect
themselves. Thelr livestocl: becarle easy prey .or nar uding
redskins. Yhe Indians at “irst raided settlements ori-
marily for the livestocii, .anderin. bands orf youns craves,
not easily controlled by tribal leaders, soumetimcs
comiltted atrocities and murders. The vrospect of ransom
money lor captives anpealed also to the ludiais. one
historian attributes the main causs .or the _ndian raids
to theilr desire to rain wealth Irom ralids:

[ = - 4 ) @ - - oo s

« « « The prospect o ransom mouey [for stolen
wonten and children, anc the trade and tribal value
of stolen horses a:d mules, creabted an ¢ver-present
incentive “or railds. The profit to be derived ar
out-weihed ilndian Srlevaices---misdeeds ol th
whites, slaughter of t e bu’Talo, an. settler
occupation o favorite huntin - rounds---as a
r.otlve ~or raids and outbrealis. Thils was uniortunate
for there is 1llitdle doust that t.e warrior's ra’.ding

and kiggappln sreasly retaided Croutler develoyncnt
(9}

This was an important riotive, no .oubi, but one mmustc also
consider that indian -rievances ‘cre eal. iio 11an, wilte
or lndian, stands idly by wnile land he clal.as s occuied
by another and his source of livellihood is dedrived “rom

him,

30, Carl Coke hilster, Zordsir Cavtives: The ‘raflic
in Prisoners by Soutaern rlaius -ndians, 1855-1275 (Zlorman,

Olilahomas (niversity of Jklahoma .ress, 1240), viii.
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In general the eastern tier of counties under
study were settled first. Some of the counties were
settled earlier than the date shown in table II, but
the settlements were not considered permanent. Buffalo
hunters came into the area early. An occasional hunter
settled early in some of the counties. Sometimes a few
settlers moved into a county only to be driven back by

the Indian raids or by other hardships of the pioneer

life.
TABLE II. SETTLEMENT OF NORTHWEST KANSAS St

County First Date 2515 131570 5

Permanent Org. 1870 UEY 5]

Settlement
Saline 1857 1859 4,246 6, 360
Ottawa 1855 1866 R 4,429
Cloud 1860 1866 2,323 7/ A0
Republic 1861 1868 i 28l 8,048
Jewell 1868-69 1870 207 765
Mitchell 1867 1870 485 5, 370
Lincoln 1870 516 2,493
Ellsworth 1865 1867 15 HLEE 1,758
Russell 1871 1872 156 1L Rl
Osborne 1870 aif=4 33 3,467

(Cont'd on next page)
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(Cont'd from p. 21)

County First Date Pop. Pop.
Permanent Org. 1870 1:87.5
Settlement

Smith 1870 1872 66 : 3,876

Phillipg 1869 1872 2,813

Rooks 1871 1872 567

Ellis 1867 1,336 940

Trego 1877-78 | 1879

Graham 1872 1880

Norton 1872 1872

Decatur 1872 1879 950 (estimated in 1878)

Sheridan 1880 170 (voted 1880)

Rawlins April 1875 1881

3l. Compiled from Fourth Annual Report of the
Kansas State Board of Agriculture, 1875, et passim;
First Biennial Report of the fansas State " Board of Agricul-
ture, 1878 et passim; Second Biennial Heport of the Kansas
State Board of Agriculture, 1880, et passim; and /W. G.
Cutler, ed./ Andreas' Histcory of the State of Kansas (Chicago:
A. T. Andreas, 1883), et passim. Hereaf ter the latter work
will be cited: Andreas' History of Kangas. Those counties
not in the table but encompassed by the study are Gove,
Thomas, Cheyenne, Sherman, Wallace and Logan. The latter
county, during the period of this study, was called
St. John., Statistics were not shown for these westernmost
counties in the works cited above.




Chapter III

AT = a- SO D 5 FDT. S0 2 SR [ 0
RAIDS O TLAIISFOL AT UL 100D

Smoky Hill ..oute

Attacks, llovember, 1365

Indian attacks on the . 2 : and stations alon~ the
Smoky Hill route were a constant rroblem rrom the tim
the route started until it was [inally sunplanted by the
railroad. The Indians raided the stages anc stations to
obtain livestock and other articles niainly, though no
doubt some of ther resented the wiiite man's establishment
of a road throuch their huntin; sround. It was an
encroachment they could not have relished. Sometimes
service was justifiably interrupted by Indian raids. At
other times it seems that danger of ialds was used as zan
excuse not to resumc service.

Some of tiic earliest raids on tie Smolyy Zill route
occurred in Ilovember, 1865, waen tlie stage line was being
operated by the Zutterfield Overland Dlspatch Jomrany.
Theodore Davis, who wrote articles which were illustrated
by his own skebtches fox llarper's mazazine, was a »pagssenger
on the stace line when somc o these attacks occurred.

The coach in which he was riding had reached Fort -letcher,

about fifteen 1miles soutneast or where the city os lays
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now is, the afternoon of November 19, 1865. Before dark
the coach reached Ruthton Station about twenty-two miles
west of Fort Fletcher. That night west of Ruthton they
met a white man, an occupant of the coach preceding theirs,
who reported that his coach had been attacked at Downer
Station. The attack had occurred at 2:00 p. m. that day.
The station hands had all retreated to the adobe station.
The half-breed son of Bill Bent was recognized as one of
the Indian leaders. The Indians asked if the treaty had
been signed. The reply to this question was, "Yes,"
whereupon the Indians desired to "shake" to show their
friendship and peaceful intentions. They then drove the
station's mules back and pretended to let the stage coach
proceed without molestation. This ruse worked well; the
Indians attacked the moment the coach got under way.
Express messenger, Fred Merwin, was instantly killed.

The rest of the party managed to escape to a Buffalo
wallow where they fought o.f the Indians and made their
escape. Two stock tenders of the Butterfield Overland
Dispatch Company were captured.1 Lieutenant Colonel ...
Tamblyn, commandin_, Fort Fletcher, later re orted the stock

tenderé had been burned alive. The 1lndians cut one of the

1. Davis, "A Stage Ride to Colorado," pp. 143, 144.
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men's tongues out before they burned him. The same day,
November 19, a party of sixty Cheyennes and Arapahoes,
apparently the same band of outlaw Indians, had attacked
Bluffton and Donner Stations. They had destroyed all
property at Bluffton. Also on the same day these Indians
killed three employees of the stage company four and one-
half miles west of Downer's Station.2 After gaining a
military escort lir, Davis' stage proceeded on its trip to
Colorado. The magazine author and artist told of reaching
Downer's station the afternoon of November 21, 1865, to
find that the coach and everything combustible had been
burned. ®

The Davis party found all stations west of Downer's
deserted, but they found no signs of Indian visitations.
At noon of November 22, they arrived at a station where
they found a government train which had been attacked by

Indians.4 The Indians killed one soldier and wounded and

" 2. BReport of W. Tamblyn, Lieut. Col. lst Rgi., U. S.
Inf., commandin Ft. Fletcher to Capt. J. E. Jacobs, A.A.G.
Dist. of Kansas, Nov. 28, 1865, found in "Records of the
United States Army Commands,Selected Pages from Vol. 456
Department of the Missouri,""icrofilm," Library, Fort
Hays Kansas State College, Hereafter cited as "Selected
Pages from v. 456 Dept. of the lissouri.™

3. Davis "A Stage Ride to Colorado," p. 145.
4, Colonel Tamblyn stated that the depredation had
occurred lionday, November 20, 1865, one-half mile west of

Chalk Bluff. Report of Col., Tamblyn, in "Selected Pages
from v. 456 Dept. of the Missouri."
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scalped another. The wounded soldier lived, but had a
permanent bald spot. The men with the overnment train
told of passing Downer's Station the day afte. the attack
and burying the pbodies of the messenger and the two
stock tenders.® ’

When notified of the depredations, volonel Tamblyn
dispatched one company of infantry from Fort Fletcher leav-
ing detachments of soldlers at different stations alon_  the
route. Eighty Indians attacked a detachment o twenty ren
left at Downer's under a Captain Bleadenheiser, the attack
resulting in six dead Indians and a number wounded. On
Saturday, November 25, these Indians attacked two coaches
and twelve men of "B" Company of the Seventeenth Illinois
Volunteer Cavalry under a Lieutenant Scott. Two of the
men were wounded 1in this attack. The same afternoon at
five o'clock Tamblyn and his escort o. twelve men were
attacked. The Indians were forced to retreat after try-
ing to steal his stock. Tamblyn felt that he could put
down the disorders if he could _et more cavalry.6

The Davis party left lonument Station November 25,

1865, with an escort of five soldiers. They also had with

5. Davis "A Stage Ride to Colorado," p. 145.

6. "Selected Pages From v. 456 Dept. of the llissouri."
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them an anbulance, a doctor, and four more soldiers.
Smoky Hill Springs Station hove in sight at about 11:00
a. m., The ambulance driver started to take a short cut
into the station while the cavalrymen galloped on in.
Indians appeared attacking both the coach and the ambu-~
lance. The doctor and the men in the ambulance left it,
and were able to go through the Indians to meet the
cavalrymen who were coming back from the station. When
the Indians took their eyes from the ambulance and the
horses pulling it, their chance to capture the men was
gone. The cavalrymen, with the rest of the party were
able to drive the Indians off and retreat to the station.’
The doctor felt he had done something to meke them pay for
their deed.

. « « he was one of the gamest of little

men. 'Ah!' quoth he as he gazed through the

glass at the crowd of Indians about the ambulance,

'l put the contents of the tartar emetic into the

flour before I left the ambulance, and if that

does not disorder their stomachs I won't say

anything -- I wish that it had been strychnine!’
The Indians were not through. They fired the grass in an
attempt to burn the station. The defenders were able to

beat out the fires with blankets. Several were wounded by

arrows when they exposed themselves. At nightfall the

7. Davis, "A Stage Ride to Colorado," pp. 147, 148.

B8« [Ibidd, p. 148.




28

Indians withdrew only to return again in three hours.
Flights of arrows poured in on the station with the
besieged men afraid to fire for fear of disclosing their
position. Finally an old hunter went out to the point
from which the arrows were coming and fired almost point-
blenk at the Indians. Startled by these tactics the
Indians stampeded and the rest of the night was peaceful.
The next morning the Indians again attacked Smoky
Hill Springs Station, but they withdrew as the first shots
were fired. A company of infantry with a small number of
cavalry came into the station expecting to bury the people
there. They reported the attack on Monument Station the
previous day. Attacks had occurred along the whole
line for two hundred fifty miles. In the attacks the Stage
company lost eight men and two hundred mules while the
government lost several men and one hundred mules. The
Indians were a group on their way to Fort Zarash to get
presents promised them by treaty.9 A Lieutenant Evans
returned to Fort Fletcher December 1, 1865, and reported no
Indians between Downer's Station and Fletcher. He believed
that they were all leaving the Smoky Hill Boute and were

heading for the Santa Fe Trail. 1O On December 18, however,

9. Davis, "A Stage Ride to Colorado," pp. 148, 150.

10. Letter, Lieut. Col. Tamblyn to Capt. J. E. Jacobs,
A.A.G, District of Kansas, Dec. 2, 1865, in "Selected Pages
from v. 456 Dept. of the Missouri.”
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Colonel Tamblyn reported that Indians the night before
had stolen five horses and four mules of the Second United
States Cavalry and three horses of Company "F," Thirteenth
Missourli Cavalry. He stated he would pursue the Indians
when the weather moderated, ana reiterated that he needed

at least one more company.ll

Attacks, 1866

Indizans were still in the vicinity of the Smoky
Hill route in January, 1866. Colonel Tamblyn reported
a large body of Indians attacked a wagon and six men of
the Butterfield Overland Dispatch Company on January 20,
1866. The attack occurred half way between Fossil Creek
and Walkers Creek ten miles east of Fort Fletcher. The
men had left Fossil Creek and had come about five miles
toward the military post. The Indians fired into them
killing two men and wounding three. Two of the wounded
men and one uninjured man escaped and reached the fort.
The other wounded man was unable to reach the post. All
available cavalry were sent out and the man was brought

in badly frozen. The cavalry found the bodies ol the

11, Letter, Lieut. Col. Tamblyn te Cap. J. ‘E:
Jacobs, A.A.G. District of Kansas, January 18, 1865, found
in "Selected Pages v 456 Dept. of Missouri.!
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other two men. The following morning the well mounted
Indians were sighted headed for the Republican River.

Again the post commander was hampered by having insufficient
cavalry on hand to pursue the Indians.t® It was compara-

tively peaceful on the Kansas plains through the winter and
summer of 1866. So peaceful, in fact, that General Sherman

felt secure enough from attack to travel without escort.l5

Attacks, 1867

Theodore Davis again went to the plains in April,
1867, prepared to go with General W. S. Hancock on his
expedition to the Indians. IHe wrote in his diary the pre-
diction of a stage coach messenger that trouble would
ensue that spring and swmer:

There had never been . . . such preparations
for an Indian outbreak as the redskins had been
making during the past winter. All they are
walting for now is the grass, and when that is
sufficiently grown to subsist the ponies you
will see some Indian deviltry, and the soldlers
will learn what nonsense it is to undertake to
fight the Indians during the summer season. Now
is the time to go for their villages. They know
that they can't escape, because their ponies are
too poor to carry them: so they wlll stay by and

12. Letter Lieut. Col. Tamblyn to Major G. W.
Smith, A.A.G. District of Kansas, January 21, 1866, found
in "Selected Pages v. 456 Dept. of Missouri."

13. "Report of Indian Feace Commissioners," p. 10.
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fight. If the Indians are whipped at this time
of the year there will be some show for peace
during the rest of the summer; otherwise they

will fight all surmer and make peace in the
fall,l4

The expedition of General W. S. Hancock to the
Arkansas River in the spring of 1867 is sometimes blamed
for the troucle with the Indians in the spring and summer
of that year. The expedition and the general's note to the
Indians was based on false information of alleged Indian
atrocities contained in an affidavit of F. F. Jones, Kiowa
interpreter, which was filed with a Major Douglas at Fort
Dodge, fansas. The information reached General Hancock
who on larch 11, 1867, wrote to the agent of the Cheyennes
and Arapahoes stating that he was getting a force ready.
His object was to teach the Indians not to molest travelers
crossing the plains. He asked the agent to tell the
Indians that he came Prepared for peace or war. The
Indians, he insisted should keep off the main line of
travel.15 Obviously this was not according to treaty
terms, for the Indians still had hunting privileges in
the area between the Arkansas and Platte Rivers.

General Hancock found the Indians encamped near

14. Davis, "A Summer on the Plains," pp. 293, 294.

15. "Report of Indian Peace Commissioners," p. 12.
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Fort Larned. The Indians fearing the troops and remember-
ing the Chivington massacre left camp after nightfall
when the troops drew near. Only an idiotic girl of eight
or nine years was left in the deserted camp. In their
flight northward the Indians destroyed a station on the
Smoky Hill road. Learning of this, Hancock burnt the
Indian village., The superintendent of an express companyl6
issued a circular to agents and employees of the company
in the following language:

You will hold no communications with Indians
whatever., If Indians come within shooting distance
shoot them. Show them no mercy for they will show
you none . . %sneral Hancock will protect you
and our property

This statement was not conducive to peace. The war was
on in earnest.

In fairness to General Hancock it is well to note
that he held council with the Cheyennes April 13, 1867, at
Fort Larned, two days before they deserted their village.18
Also; he did not destroy the village until he was notifiled

that actual depredations had been committed. The first

16. Probably Wells Fargo Company.

17. "Report of the Indian Peace Commissioners,"
p. 12.

184 "Monthly Record of Current Events: Indian
"War," Harper's New Monthly, XXXV (June, 1867), 128,
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paragraph of Hancock's special field order read:

II. As a punishment for bad faith practised

éEig? by the Cheyennes and Sioux who occupied the

dian village at this place, and as chastisement
for murders and depredations committed since the
arrival of the co ! and at this point, by the
people of these tribes, the village recently
occupied by them whic? is now in our hands will
be utterly destroyed. °

Theodore Davis said of the burning of the village:

« « « The village was burned but not before
a careful inventory had been taken of all the
property to be destroyed. I have heard some
estimates of the value of this property that were
ludicrously large. The loss inflicted upon the
Indians could Sgsily be made good by them in a
single summer.

The Indian Affairs Commissioner in 1867 had traced
the causes for the ensuing trouble to lajor General Han-
cock's expedition to Fort Larned and the burning of the
Indian village. To this General Sherman replied by
stating that unmistakable si ns of trouble and positive
threats of violence came from tne Indians prior to the

2L

Hancoek expedition. In another communication he stated:

19. /George A. Custer/, Wild Life on the Plains
and Horrors of Indian Warfare . . . (St. Louls: The
Excelsior Publishing Company, /¢ 18917), p. 60.

20, Davis "A Surme. on the Plains," p. 2U6.

21. Letter rom Lieut. General Shsiiian, July 1,
1867, in Annual .eport o' the Secretary of War, 1867,
(51 46




34
. « Very early in the season the Indians

of the Cheyenne, Kiowa, and Arapahoe bands

had unreservedly notified the commanding

officers of posts and the stage drivers

and agents that, as soon as the grass grew,

they would lnslst on withdrawing from those

roads.
The fundamental cause for the trouble that followed
Hancock's expedition was undoubtedly the deep seated
animosity of the Indians for the encroachment of the
whites on thelr hunting grounds. The trouble was precip-
itated by Hancock's march on the Indians who feared another
Sand Creek massacre, and by the unfortunate order of the
express company superintendent telling his employees to
shoot Indians on sighting them.

General Hancock sent General2?d George A. Custer
after the fleeing Indians when he discovered they had
left the village. Custer started in pursuit with four
squadrons of the Seventh Cavalry on April 15, at 5:00 a.m,
He struck the Smoky Hill route April 16, at Downer's

Station.24 Proceeding eastward along the route toward

22. Report of Lieut. Gen. Sherman, Headquarters
Military Division of the Missouri, October 1, 1867, in
Annual Report of the Secretary of War, 186/, p. 34.

23. General Custer was brevetted a major general
during the Civil War. His highest permanent rank was
that of Lieutenant colonel.

24, William Elsey Connelly, Wild Bill and His
Era . . . (New York: The Press of the Pioneers, 1933), P. 98.
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Hays, Custer found only about every fourth station occupied.
Men had abandoned stations in order to repair to a station
where their combined numbers would enable them to put up a
better defense.25 The stations along the route were ten or
fifteen miles apart. The stables and buildings had strong
doors, and dugouts were connected to the stables by tunnels.
It would have been possible to fi ht off the Indians from
a station had they not brepared flaming arrows to set fire
to the hay. When the station was fired the men retreated
to the dugouts.®® General Custer found Lookout Station a
smoking ruins. The bodies of the three station keepers
were found disembowelled and burned. The Indians in pass-
ing fired into another station and tried to gain admittance
to a third. The men at some of these stations recognized
the Indians as Sioux and Cheyennes.27

Raids on the route continuéd through the summer of

1867 as is revealed by the lists showing United States

25. (Custer, Wild Life on the Plains, p. 60,

26. MlMrs. Elizabeth (Bacon) Custer, Tenting on the
sher, 2

Plains (New York: Harper and srothers Publi c 1887/7),
Pe. 341,

27. Custer, Wild Life on the Plains, p. 60.
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Express Company property destroyed on the route and also
the table showing collisions of United States Troops with
Indians 1867.28 On June 26, 1867, Roman Nose and his
Cheyenne Indians attacked a station two miles from Fort
Wallace running off the stock of the Overland Stage
Company. The same party of Indians started to advance on
Fort Wallace but were charged by Company G of the Seventh
Cavalry. The charge resulted in seven Indians killed,
several wounded, and half of the horses captured or killed.
The danger from raids still had not passed by July 9, 1867,
as is revealed in a special order issued that date at New
Fort Hays. On that date forces were dispatched to Big
Creek, Lookout, Swamp Hollow, and White Rock. They were
to erect temporary fortifications against hostile
Indians.?®

General Sherman investigated conditions along the
railroad and the stage route in July, 1867. He found that
no stages had made the trip from the end of the railroad
to Denver in July and that only one stage had made the
trip in June. He suspected that Indian depredations were

not the real reason for the poor service, but that Vells

28. See Appendixz, A and B.

29, Special Order No. 36, Headquarters New Fort
Hays, July 9, 1867, "Microfilm of Fort Hays Records,"
Library, Fort Hays Kansas State College.
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Fargo Company could make more money by not running the
stages because they were getting government subsidies.
Sherman pointed out that at the same time the stages were
' not running: "Trains of wagons go with light escort and
even single, carriers run from post to post."30 Sherman
believed that the stage company officials showed their
cowardice and selfishness by not resuming service. Service
was finally resumed on the stage line July 27, 1867.91
Theodore Davis writing from Fort Harker August 3,
1867, told of a squad of negro soldiers, under a colored
sergeant, holding off Indian attacks on Wilson Creek
Station. Indians attacked three times. The sergeant was
able to lead his men to a ravine where they met the third
attack. The Indians fled when t e colored troops opened
fire. In the sergeant's orficial report was this state-
ment:
All the boys done Bully but Corporal Johnson
he flinked. The way he flinked was to stay back
until the boys had drove the Injuns two miles then
he hollered give it to 'em, /sic/ me and the boys

don't think that a man that would flink that way
ought to have a corporal's stripes.

30. liarvin H. Garfield, "The Ifilitary Post a Factor
in the Frontier Defense of nansas, 1865-1869," Kansas
Historical Quarterly, I (1932), p. 334.

31. Ibid.

22, "Indian War," Harper's Weekly, (September 7,
1867), 564.
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Thirty miles out from Fort Hays in the summer of
1867, Wild Bill Hickock and Jack Harvey found a men
wounded and scalped. He died within a few minutes after
they discovered him. Fifteen Indians had attacked a
party of six men. The mortally wounded man did not know
what had happened to the rest of his party. As they left
the man, Hickock and Harvey sighted Indians to the north.
Walting in a ravine, they were able to kill five o. the
Indians when they approached. The Indians feigned retreat,
and the two scouts went on down the ravine. Upon emerging
at the other end the Indians bore down upon them. They
were able to kill two more Indians; after which, they
reported, they whirled and charged the Indians, who
scattered.>®
On a trip to Fort Harker from Fort Wallace for

supplies, Custer in the summer of 1867 found many stations
along the Smoky Hill route abandoned. He found men
gathered at some of the stations for defense. He found it
necessary to travel at night because the men manning them
were so jittery. On this trip Custer noted the first sign
of Indians near Downer's Station. Here he stopped to rest

his horses. Some of the men had halted some distance back

33. Connelly, Wild Bill and His Era, pp. 105, 106,
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without authorization. They sudenly rode forward rapidly
reporting an attack by twenty or thirty Indians. Two of
the soldiers were killed. There was a detachment of

soldiers at the station so Custer pushed on toward Fort

Harker, 9%

Attacks, 1868

Attacks on the stage line occurred late in the
summer of 1868. A Denver stage was attacked August 23,
between Pond Creek and Lake Station. Indians had raided
Comstock's ranch the night of August 20. The men there
fled to Pond Creek. One of the men was wounded in the
raid and died at Fort Wallace August 21.°° These attacks
appeared in a tabular statement of depredations officially
reported to the Department of the Nissouri. Both Raids
were reported under the date of August 23, 18683. Accord-
ing to this statement, besides attacking the coach and
the ranch, the Indians burned a house and murdered one

more person. 56

34, Custer, Wild Life on the Plains, pp. 111, 1l2.

35. Report of General Philip Sheridan, Sept. 26,
1868, Appended list, in Annual Report of the Secretarx of
War, 1868, found in "Annual liessage of the President,
40 Cong., 3 sess., House Executive Document No. 1, pt. 2,
Vol. I, Serial no. 1367, p. 1l3.

36. Copy of table in Custer, Wild Life on the
Plains, p. 12l.
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The Indians raided Kiowa Station August 28, 1868.
Here according to the official record, they murdered three
people, destroyed a wagon train, and stole fifty cattle.d7
Another report, apparently of the same raid, stated that
thirty horses were captured, and a woman and child carried
off. Their remains were later found shockingly mutilated.
This account said the raid occurred August 23,58 Other
raids occurred during August and September as 1s shown in
table III. These raids caused work to be temporarily
suspended on the Union Pacific Railroad Eastern Division.
After the 1868 raids the railroad had been built through
Kansas and the stages which had traversed the old Smoky

Hill route were no longer used in hansas.

"37. Copy of table in Custer Wild Life on the Plains,
[0 ALl

38, "The Indian War," Harpers Weekly (Sept. 19,
1868), 606. The raid actually may have occurred August 23,
but may not have been reported until August 28. Note the
slight discrepancy between Sherman's Report and the
tabular statement in the raid immediately preceding.
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TABLE III. TABULAR STATEMENT
OF DEPREDATIONS ON THE SMOKY HILL ROUTE, 1868

(Exclusive of Nilitary Engagements)o9

Date Place Raided Nature of Raid
Aug. 23 Pond Creek and 2 murdered, 1 house burned and
Lake Station plundered, 1 stage coach
attacked and impeded
Aug. 27 Big Springs 1 scout murdered (Will Comstock)
Station
Aug. 28 Kiowa Station 3 murdered, 50 cattle stolen,
Wagon train attacked, destroyed
Aug. 31 Kiowa Creek 200 horses and mules stolen,
(Near) 40 cattle stolen, 2 stage
coaches attacked and impeded
Sept. 1 West of Lake 2 murdered, 2 scalped, 30
Station cattle stolen
Sept. 8 Turkey Creek 2 murdered, 2 scalped, 76
near Sheridan horses and mules stolen
Sept. 9 Between 6 murdered, 1 house attacked,
Sheridan and burned, and plundered
Wallace
Sept. 10 Near Wallace 1l stage coach attacked and
impeded
Sept. 19 Big Timber's 1 house attacked

Station

39, Constructed _rom copy of table in Custer,
Wild Life on the Plains, DP. 2L -
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Union Pacific Railroad Eastern Division

Attacks, 1867

The Union Pacific Railroad Eastern Division had
reached Fort Harker by July 1, 1867.4C By September 18,
1867, it had reached the 275 mile post to within just ten
miles of Fort Hays.41 The attacks in the summer of 1867
occurred between Fort Harker and Fort Hays. Workers were
perforce constantly alerted for trouble. Besides their
picks and spades the workers had as tools Springfields
and bowies., Sentinels and guards were as necessary to the
building of the road as were the engineers and surveyors.42
The number of employees who fell while working on the
rallroad will never be known. They were buried where they
fell, and no one bothered to mark their graves in many
instances.%%

Attacks on the railroad workers continued through-
out the summer and fall. A band of Kiowas attacked rail-

road men fifteen miles west of Fort Harker on Thursday,

40. Annual Report of Secretary of War, 1867, p. 36.

41, Garfield, "Defense of the Frontier," p. 330.

42, Harper's Weekly, (Sept. 7, 1867), 564.

43. Adolph Roenigk, Pioneer History of Kansas
(Adolph Roenigk, publisher, /c 1933/ ), p. 207.
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June 27, 1867, killing one engineer and woundin- an
employee. Work on the road was almost entirely stopped at
this time.44 One thousand laborers on seventy-five miles
of line were kept from working. The railroad company
arpealed to overnor Crawford for help. Crawford made an
appeal to the War Department for arms and armunition for
the workers and was successful in obtaining them. Hence-
forth the workers were armed and work on the railroad was
resumed, 49

General Sherman made his investigation of the
railroad, as well as the stage coach line, in July, 1867,
finding that railroad construction was proceeding slowly.
He blamed the heavy rainfall, which in many cases had
been responsible for floods washing away the grade, rather
than the Indian attacks for the slow pro:ress of the road
building.46 General Sherman, adamant in his refusal to
allow Governor Crawford to call out volunteer cavalry,
finally had relented and the governor called out the

Eighteenth Kansas Volunteer Cavalry. The General, upon

44, Letter Governor S. J., Crawford to U. S. Senator
Ross, June 29, 1867, in State Record Extra, (Topeka, July
5, 1868 /1867/), found in Governor (S. J. Crawford), 1865-
1868, "Correspondence: Subject File: Indians, 1867, 1868
(Archives Kansas State Historical Society, Topeka).
Hereafter cited Gov. S. J. Crawford, "Correspondence."

45, Garfield, "Defense of the Frontier," p. 330.

46, Ibid., 334
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investigating actual conditions, concluded that the state
troops had not been needed, but it was too late to rescind
his action.?” Despite Sherman's optimistic view of the
situation, the army still was taking every precaution to
guard the rall and stage lines with the small number of
men available. This is revealed in an order detailing one
sergeant and twelve men of Company "A", Thirty-eighth
Infantry to proceed from Fort Hays to Fossil Creek, Kansas,
to take post. They were to be provided with fifteen days
rations and one hundred rounds of ammunition per man. 48

In September 1 67, a settler reported to uovernor
Crawford:
In accordance with your request to communicate
to you any facts as to Indian outrages, I just want
to say that, on the same afternoon where you and I
were talking Sharp and Shaw's camp was attackéé§3;7.
One man killed, three horses taken yesterday /sic

Parks Camp was attacked. Parks & two other men
killed %wo others wounded. Some stock balen [sic/

. . . .

According to this letter the attacks referred to occurred
on September 28, 1867. Parks' camp was at the western

end of the railroad line. The camp was saved by the

f1

47, Garfield, "Defense of the Frontier," p. 330.

48, Special Order No. 27, Headquarters dew Fort
Hays, July 1, 1867, "Microfilm of Fort Hays Records,”
Library, Fort Hays Kansas State College. See also re-
ference to Special Order No. 36 on p. 36 avove.

49, Letter, R. k. Fish to Gov. Crawford, Big Creek
Kansas, Sept. 29, 1867, in Gov. S. J. Crawford,
"Gorrespondence. "
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Thirty-Eighth Infantry. According to anoth r account, a
soldier and a teamster were killed at the camp. A man
named Parks, in charge of the camp, and two soldiers were
returning with the camp stock when the raid took place.
The Indians killed Parks and wounded both soldiers.°C

Other attacks occurred along the roadway during
the summer and fall of 1867. lir. Adolph Roenigk, who
worked for the railroad one year after it had been built,
mentioned some of the graves along the right-of-way. Two
graves were located east of Fossil Creek Station, now
Russell, one o. them being one and one-half mile and the
other being two and one half miles from the station.
Another grave was located about two and one-half miles
west of the station. These graves were unmarked. Another
grave, located on the west bank of Walker's Creek and on
the south side o. the track was marked by a limestone
tablet. Forty-four years latér in 1911 while going over

the track with Mr. W. K. Beach, Mr. Roenigk learned that

50. "Complete Story of the rounding of Rome." from
Simon Motz, Historical and Biographical Sketches, "Ellis
County Clippings 1873-1930," I, (Kansas State Historical
Society, Topeka), p. 203. The attack on Parks' camp may
have been the one referred to as occurin§ September 19,
in Garfield "rfrontier Defense of nansas,” p. 349. Garfield

mentions a contractor and three men having peen killed.
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the man buried there was Theodore Goeckler.°l Mr. Beach

had worked with the man, and gave the following account

of his death:

Goeckler, with a team of mules, was hauling
building rock from a quarry located some distance
north. It was about 12:30 as the stone haulers
were rather late that day in ettin back with
their loads of rock at noon. The rest of us were
getting dinner when he was attacked. He was un-
armed. He saw the Indians coming and managed %o

et one of his mules loose and mounted him, but
was shot by an Indian and fell to the ground. He
got to his feet again and made an effort to get
away but was speared by an Indian. This happened
about where the Catholic church stands today at
Gorham, Kansas.

Near Victoria, Kansas, on a grassy knoll lying on

the west bank of the North Fork of Big Creek, south

of the railroad and north of Highway 40, is an inclosure

fenced with wooden posts and iron pipes.

The inclosure

contains seven marked graves and a memorial granite stone

erected by the Union Pacific Railroad Company. The

bronze tablet on the granite boulder states:

This stone marks the burilal place of six track

laborers who were in the employ of the Union Pacific

Railway Eastern Division and, while on duty, about
one mile west of here were massacred by a band of
Cheyenne Indians, October, 1867.

51. Roenigk, Pioneer History of Lansas, p. 207.

The raids in which these men were killed occurred June

28,

1867,

Bay ¢ Jhidsy pe 210
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Seven graves lie in a row on the east side of the
inclosure. The marker to the south has carved on it
these words:

eas, " Tecintes poraons Hore o e angnsns

To thier /sic/ memory I've carved this stone.

Killed gg Indians in the year 1867. Dock Williams

carver.
Another of the stones is deeply carved withthe words,
"Here Lies T," as though the carver, interrupted, never
again had opportunity to finish the carving. On the
stone farthest north is a dee ly engraved cross. The
others are barren of any markings. Mr. Roenigk claimed
that the inclosure contained eleven graves, six of which
are accounted for by the granite boulder.®? No trace
of the four unmarked graves remains today, but the

inclosure contains ample room for four more graves.55

53. Mr. Roenigk said this epitaph was: "In memorian
Henry Mc Donney of Cambridge, lass. Five persons here to
me unknown. To their Memory I've carved this stone. Killed
by Indians in the year 1867. Dock Williams." Ibid., 208.

4NN Ehaidenipsy 207 ficobnotes.

55, ©Simon Motz stated that on June 6, 1867, six
railway workers were killed at a cut immediately east of
the railroad crossing over the North fork of Big Creek.
See "Ellis County Clippings,' 1873-1930, I, (Kansas
Historical Society Library, Topeka), p. 203. Another
article in the "Ellis County Clippings," I, p. 113, stated
that fourteen members of a grading party were killed at
about the same place in early June, 1867, by Satanta, the
Kiowa chief. The event referred to must be the same one
mentioned on the monument erected by the railroad at
Victoria. Mr. Roenigk, who worked on the railroad in



Attacks, 1868

The year 1868 was a busy year for the army. Forty
ralds took place over widely dispersed places in the
Department of the Missouri. General Philip Sheridan felt
that it was best to remain on the defensive throughout
the summer only trying to protect the [eople of the new
settlements and on the overland routes until winter. He
knew the Indians would be easier to catch when winter
came. He had a force of only 2,600 men, 1,200 mounted
and 1,400 foot troops. The latter could only be used
as defensive troops. The mounted troops were the Seventh
and Tenth cavalry regiments. The foot troops were the
Third and Fifth Infantry regiments plus four companies
of the Thirty-eighth infantry regiment. Every available

man was kept busy from id-August till November.56

the vicinity of these incidents only one year later, when
the graves were still fresh, sums up the casualties by
stating that in the two years from 1867-1869, thirteen
railroad men and one stock tender were killed by Indians
from Fossil Creek Station to the north fork of Big Creek.
See Roeni 'k, Pioneer History of fansas. p. 211. This
would certainly seem to indicate that the account of
fourteen deaths just west of the north fork of Big Creek
is erroneous.

56. Sheridan, Memoirs, pp. 297, 298.
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A band o. ten Indians durin +the irst part of | ay,
1868, set on fire and burned two box cars a:d one flat car
about twenty miles west of Coyote. They fastened three
hundred feet of telegraph wire across the track and spiked
chains across the rails so as to derail the engine. They
approached to within a short distance of the water tank
about three miles east of where the depredations occurred,
but a group of armed laborers met them and they le t after
making a circuit around the laborers. No one was injured
in the attack.57 May 11, 1868, men were disatched from
Fort Hays to protect the railroad bridge over the north
fork of Big Creek. <The same order sent ! ajor Yard and
Captain Graham of the Tenth United States Cavalry to the
end of the track to inquire into the burn._ng oif the three
cars mentioned above.58

Five men were left at each wacer tank along the
track to keep them from being destroyed. The lieutenant
in charge of posting the new guard and withdrawin the old
guard in a report dated July 2, 186c, mentioned Indian
movements across the tracks. At Grinnell Station he met

Chief Spotted wolf o the Che,ennes, who professed

57. Report of J. W. Claws, 38th Inf., to Fort Hays,
May 8, 1868, in "Jort Hays Letter ~'ile" 1867, '€8, '69,
National Archives /ashington D. C.

58. Special Orders No. 83, tHeadquarters fort uays,
llay 11, 1868, "Microfilm of ‘ort Hays xecords," Library,
Fort Hays tansas State College.
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friendship with the whites and stated that he and all of
his people were moving north to visit friends. The
sergeant in command at this tank reported two or tiree
hundred Indians had been in to see him durin; the preced-
ing week. Among them was Tall Bull and a band of Cheyennes.
They also were moving north and seemed very friendly. When
the lieutenant came back through Grinnell station after
posting guards at the next tank east, the sergeant there
reported that a conductor of a mail train had supplied
an Indian of Spotted Wolf's band with whiskey on June 30.
The sergeant warned him of the illegality of the act, but
the conductor seemed unconcerned.®® This movement in mass
to the north by the Cheyenne Indians was quite peaceful,
no major disturbance having resulted from it. A report
from Fort Harker to Fort Hays July 14, 1868, stated some
Cheyennes had left Fort Harker and moved north., Officials
at Harker feared they might do mischief.®0 on July 16,
1868, the commanding officer at Fort Harker complained to
the commanding officer of Fort Hays that soldlers guarding
the water tanks fired on Indians or persons as if enemles.
He urged caution and asked that single Indians and citizens

be allowed to approach. He recommended that only one Indian

59, Report of I. M. Kelley, 1lst Lt., 38th U. S.
Infty, to Captain J. W. Claus, 38th U. S. Infty, commanding
forces at end of track, July 2, 1868, in "Ft. Hays Letter
Pllsy® 1867, '68, '6%.

60. In Ibid.
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be allowed to approach from a body of Indians.61

General Sheridan issued a general order August 24,
which served as a declaration of war. He had only eight
hundred cavalry to garrison the forts and protect the line
of travel on the railroad for two hundred miles; to pro-
tect the stage routes and lines of travel from the railway
terminus to Denver and into New lexico; as well as to
protect the settlements on the Solomon, Saline, and Smoky
Hill., In order to do this it became necessary to recruit
the Nineteenth Kangas Volunteer Cavalry under Governor
Crawford. 5% The latter organization is best known for the

part it took in the winter campaign of 1869.

Colonel Carpenter and his rLenth United States
Cavalry were attacked by Cheyennes and Arapahoes Uctober
18, at Buffalo station. In the ensuing battle nine Indians
were killed and thirty wounded. The Indians wounded three

of Carpenter's men.63 On October 30. six cars of an

61l. Report of I. M, Kelley, lst Lt, 38th U. S.
Infty, to Captain J. W. Claus, 38th U, S. Infty, commanding
forces at end of track, July 2, 1868, in "Ft. Hays Letter
File," 1867, '68, '69.

62. Randolph De B. Keim, Sheridan%s Troopers on the
Borders: A Winter Campaign on the Plains (Philadelphia:
Claxton, Remson, and ﬁaffelinger, 1870), pp. 34-36.

63. Garfield, "Defense of the Frontier," p. 463.

The list appended to Sheridans Report of Sept. 26, 1868,
in Report of the Secretary of War, 1868, states that the

batfle occurred on Beaver Creek with four hundred Indians
participating. Besides the three wounded it also mentions
Carpenter's loss of two horses killed. p. 16.
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train were derailed by the Indians near Grinnell, Kansas.
No one was injured in the attack. Colored troops drove

off the Indians.64

Fosgil Creek Station, 18692

An account in Harper's Weekly contains a brief story
of what happened at Fossil Creek Station--where Russell,
Kansas now is--on May 28, 1869.

The Kansas Pacific Railroad was attacked by
Indians at Fossil Creek station May 28. Two men
were killed and four wounded. The railroad track
was torn up and thrown a considerable distance
from the grading.

For a more vivid, detailed account of the raid one must
refer to a member in the party attacked, Mr. Roenigk.

Fossil Creek Station was a small station, between
the small frontier towns of Ellsworth and Hays, consist=-

ing of a water tank, a small box house shaped like a

freight car, and dugout dwellings for the employees.

64. Garfield, "Defense of the Frontier," p. 463.

65. "Domestic Intelligence,'" Harper's Weekly
(June 19, 1869), 387.
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The Kansas Pacific®® furnished employees rifles of an
unusual caliber. The ammunition supply was insufficient
and the men wasted what they had, 67

The men at Fossil Creek had been warned by a govern-
ment employee on May 20 that the Indians had broken out
in Indian Territory and were headed north. May 28, when
the men went to work kr. Roenigk, George Selly, and Charley
Sylvester carried Spencer carbines. These were seven shot
carbines. Three others in the party, a man named Taylor,
one named McKeefer, and one named Lynch carried no rifles.
Another member of the party, not named in the account, had
a rifle; but he had left his ammunition at the station
rendering his weapon useless. The men worked on the track
three fourths of a mile west of the station. They were
Jjust three hundred yards east of a ravine called "Kits
Fork." The ravine afforded Indians a chance for a sneak
attack, and they used it. They came from the side and at-
tacked the men. Roenigk had to run thirty yards for the
handcar with bullets whizzing around him. He had trouble

with his Spencer having put one too many cartridges in it.

66. The company was reorganized and the name
changed to ‘ansas Pacific during the winter of 1868-69.
Roenigk, Pioneer History of nransas, p. 166.

67. Ibid., pp. 168, 169.
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Other Indians appeared in front of them. The men were able
to get the hand-car through the Indians because the Indians
were flring from all around and had to withhold their fire
temporarily. The hand-car was slowed down by the fact that
part of the men had to use rifles leavin~ fewer of them to
man the car. The Indlans killed Mc Keefer and Lynch at a
point about halfway to the station. Their bodies toppled
off the car. Seely was struck in the thizh by an arrow.
A bullet struck Roenigk in the center of his chest seriously
wounding him. Sylvester and Taylor also were wounded, and
John Cook, the station agent, kept watch over the wounded
when the party attalned the shelter of a dugout.

Cook and the other man kept those wounded informed
of what was occurring along the rall line. Two miles east
of the station the Indians tore up the tracks by bresking
the heads of the spikes. A train from the west approached,
took to the siding slowing down and averting trouble. The
trein from the east, consisting of freight cars and one
passenger car containing twelve passengers, was ditched
but no one was killed. While the Indians tore up the track
a herd of buffalo came in view from the south. Leaving
their destructive work, the Indians hid themselves and were

able to kill five of the hapless creatures with spears and

arrows within five minutes. The train from the west remained
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on the siding all night. The Indians killed two men on HSGS
stripped, mutilated, and scalped then. They also ran
telegraph wire through the calves of their legs and other
parts of their body. The Indians then departed with their
buffalo meat, camping that night on the Saline River to
the north.%8 The wounded men eventually recovered from
the wounds received in the raid. Fossil Creek Station was
temporarily abandoned.69

The completion of the Kansas Pacific and Union
Pacific railroad facilitated the movement of troops and
accounts for the fewer Indian difficulties after 1869.
The area between the railroads, a choice hunting ground,
could not be reached without crossing the rails. fWhen
this occurred the alarm could be speeded by telegraph,

and the army could soon move in.70

The German Family, 1874

Although not raids on the transportation routes,
two other raids occurring along the railroad should be

noted. September 15, 1874, there occurred an attack on

68. Roenigk, Pioneer History of sansas, pp. 170-177.

69, Ibid., p. 181.

70. Report of General John Pope, Hdqrs. Dept. of the
Missouri, Oct. 31, 1870 in Annual Report of the Secretary of
War, 1870, found in "Annual ‘lessage of the President," 41
Tong., 3 sess., House Executive Document No. 1, Pt. 2, I,
Serial 1446, p. Il.
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a party of one man and two small boys near Buffalo Station.
The man was a Mr. Stowell of Russell County, Lansas. The
party had two wagons. The Indians stole two mules and
captured a boy thirteen years old. The boy was later
found dead a short distance away. He had been scalped.
A scouting party sent out from Fort Hays went by traln to
Buffalo Station, starting from ther - at noon Septerber 15,
in an attempt to bring the Indians to justice. The scouts
covered the territory north of the station, thence south
to the Arkansas and back to the Smoky Hill River, arriving
back at the fort September 28, 1874, having traveled 426
miles in fourteen days. The scoutin: party of twenty-
seven men of the Sixth United States Cavalry were on the
trail of the Indians several times, but were forced to
abandon their efforts because horses and men were exhausted,
and the Indians scattered. 't

What was believed to have been the same band of
Indians attacked a family named German on the north fork
of the Smoky Hill River shortly after the Stowell boy was

killed. John and Catherine German and two /should be

7l. Report of lst. Lt. J. B. Kerr, Sept. 28, 1874,
in "0ld Letter File, Fort Hays, ~ansas, 1869-70" /in wrong
file/, (National Archives, Washington, D. C.). See also
Kansas Adjutant General, Annual Report, 1873-74, p. 27.
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three/ of the children were brutally murdered. The four
remaining children, Catherine, Sophia, Johanna /Julia/ and
Nancy were all carried into captivity.72

The family was en route from Elgin, »ansas, to
Colorado. They came to the railroad at a point near Hays,
Kansas, intending to follow the Kansas Pacific. When they
camped near Ellis, Kansas, someone informed them that the
old stage road was better because water would be more
easily obtained along it. He also told the family that
the chance of trouble with Indians was slight. They
decided to try the river road, and traveled several days
making about eighteen miles per day. On one afternoon two
hunters met them.and gave them some antelope meat. The
hunters had seen no signs of trouble, and the family
decided to travel until nighg fall in order to make Wallace
the next day. They camped that night on the bank of the
Smoky Hill. The next morning Catherine and Stephen went
up a ravine to get the cattle preparatory to moving on
the road again. They sighted some antelope, and Stephen
wanting to get a shot at them told Catherine to take the

cattle in. Just then the two children heard yelling, and

72. Adjutant General's Report, 1873-74, p. 28.

This report is in error because Catherine (German)
Swerdfeger mentioned five as having been killed, and
four captured. See next footnote.
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the Indians dashed down shooting as they came. Catherine
believed she ran for one-fourth to one-half a mile before
being overtaken. They shot an arrow into her left thigh,
whereupon a big burly savage caught her, drew out the arrow
and kicked her a few times. Two others rushed after
Stephen, killing him, while Catherine's captor put her
behind him on his horse. They rode up to the site ol the
camp in time to see Joana felled by an arrow. Catherine
felt Joana was killed because she looked older than the
other sisters, though she was actually younger than
Catherine. The younger children, three in number, told
Catherine that their mother, father, and sister Jane were
gone. They had been killed by the indians. The four
sisters carried into captivity were later recovered from

the Indians.’3

73, "Letter," Catherine (German) Swerdfeger to
L. #. Hubbell, Jetmore, nansas, December 31, 1927.




Chapter IV
RAIDS IN THE VICINITY OF FORT WA;LACEl
Early Raids

Before Fort Wallace was founded a raid occurred
on May 16, 1864. Judging from its deseription the raid
must have occurred in present Logan County, Kansas. The
official report of the raid follows:

I bave thé honor to inform you that on the
16th instant, when within 3 miles of the Smoky
Hill, I was attacked by Cheyenne Indians, about
400 strong, and after a persistent fight of seven
and one-half hours succedded in driving them from
the field. They lost 3 chiefs and 25 warriors
killed; the wounded I am unable to estimate. Iy
own loss is 4 men killed and 3 wounded. My
animals are exhaustedé I will remain at this post
until further orders.

Later the commanding officer of Fort Lyon, reported that

the attack occurred at a point on the Smoky Hill Fork.

l. Some raids in the vicinity of Fort Wsllace were
recounted in the previous chapter in connection with the
transportation routes. They will not appear in this
chapter. For a good account of the Fort Wallace and the
part it played in protecting the frontier see krs. Frank
C. Montgomery, "Fort Wallace and its Relation to the
Frontlier," Kansas Historical Collections, XVII (1928),
189-283.

2. Report, Lieut. George S. Eayre, McClain's
Colorado Battery, to Col. J. M, Chivington, District of
Colorado, May 19, 1864, in Official Records of the War of
the Rebellion, Series I, XXIV, Fart I, "Reports." (Washing-

ton: Government Printing office, 1891), p. 935. The letter
was written from Fort Larned.
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He also stated that Black hettle had been reported killed
in the raid.3 This reported death of Black nettle was in
error, for that famous Chief survived Chivington's raid
the following fall and was still alive until the battle
of Washita in the winter of 1869,

The first fight of the Seventh Cavalry occurred
at Fort Wallace in June, 1867. Three hundred Cheyenres
under Roman Nose advanced on the fort. The cavalry rode
out to meet them. In the ensuing battle the negro infantry
troops who had gone out with the cavalry were conspicuously
gallant.4 Seven Indians .ere killed, several were wounded,

and half of the horses were captured or killed.5

Attack on wagon train supplying Custer

In mid-summer, 1867, Custer was ordered to proceed
north from Fort Hays to the Platte River, He was
encamped for a time on the Republican River. While there
supplies were sent to him from Fort Wallace. Custer

described the attack on one of the trains sup.lying him as

3. Report of laj. Edward W. Wynkoop, kay 27, 1864,
In ibids, p. 934.

4, Mrs. Custer, Tenting on the Plains, p. 387.

5. "lLate Indian Outrages," Harper's Weekly, (July
27, 1867), 468. See above p. 36.
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it had been related to him. Six to seven hundred Indians
were supposed to have attacked the train. The raid was
meant to be a surprise but fortunately /ill Comstock, the
famous scout was along and sighted the Indians before they
attacked. The train kept moving in two columns. Every
fourth trooper was on the inside of the column to keep the
lead horses going. The rest of the troopers formed a circle
around the train and walked with it. When the Indians first
attacked, the troopers held fire until they came close
then greeted them with volleys of lead. The Indians
were driven back, but returned again, circling and fight-
ing individually. The attack continued for three hours
with the wagon train moving forward constantly. The
troopers leading the horses were replaced at intervals
from among the skirmishers so that all could participate
in the fight. Custer had sent Colonel West and some of
the Seventh Cavalry to protect the train. When they came
into view the Indians retreated hastily. Five warriors
were known to have been killed in the skirmish and several

soldiers were Wounded.6

6. Custer, Wild Life on the Plains, pp. 89-96.
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Kidder Massacre

General Custer, while encamped on the Republican
River, ordered more supplies from Fort Wallace on June 27,
1867, fully expecting to push on to the Platte River. By
this time the trouble on the Platte had subsided. General
Sherman sent dispatches to Fort Sedgwick ordering Custer to
proceed south toward Wallace looking for Indians as they
were reported heading south. Lieutenant F. H. Kidder was
sent from Fort Sedgwick to find Custer and to give him
Sherman's message. Meanwhile Custer had left his camp
and had gone to Fort Sedgwick where he picked up the
message.’ He departed for Fort Wallace looking for
Lieutenant Kidder on the way.

Custer and the Seventh Cavalry found the bodies of
Lieutenant Kidder and his ten men on Beaver Creek along the
wagon trall from Custer's camp on the Republican to Fort
Wallace. Custer reasoned that Lieutenant Kidder had
arrived at the Republican River camp site and found the

trail to Fort Wallace, then followin- it in the dark had
failed to see where Custer's fainter trail to Sedgwick

diverged from the main trail.®

7. Report of General Sherman, Oct. 1, 1867, in
Annual Report of Secretary of War, 1867, p. 35.

8. Custer, ¥ild Life on the Plains, pp. 98, 99.

The same conclusion was reached in a report "Indian War
Scenes, " Harper's Weekly (Aug. 17, 1867}, 512.
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The Cavalrymen found all of the men in the Kidder
party had been scalped and the skulls of all of them had
been broken. The Indians had also cleanl scalped the
Sloux Chief, Red Bead, scout for the party. His scalp
was lying near by. Scout Will Comstock said that this
was because the Indians would not bear off the scalp of
one of their own tribe. From this bit of information he
surmized that the Sioux, probably led by Pawnee Killer,
had attacked the party. Most of the men's clothing had
been carried away. Some of the bodies lay in beds of
ashes. ©Sinews of their arms and legs had been cut away,
their noses hacked off, and their features defaced. Each
body contained from twenty-five to fifty arrows. The

cavalrymen buried tlhem all in a common trench.”

Attack on ..ood-cutters

August 27, 1868, two hundred fifty Indians threat-
ened the train of a Captain Butler, Fifth Infantry, caus-
ing him to return to Big Springs. Twenty-five Indians
attacked two citizens one and one-half miles west of
Sheridan at about 11:00 a. m. on September 7. On

September 9, they burned the same ranch burned two weeks

9., Custer, Wild Life on the Plains, pp. 107, 108.
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previously, six miles from Sheridan on the road to Wallace.
The occupants of the ranch were killed.l® On the same
date, one of the citizens at Pond City reported to Governor
Crawford that the condition of the settlers there was
past endurance. The Indians he stated were complete masters
of the situation, the settlers having no horses or arms.

He reported three teamsters were killed by Indians and
listed their names as Johnny O'Neil, Isaac Burwick, and

Pat Maloney. He also stated that a Mr. siaginis had been
killed at Big Timbers.ll Another account of the raid stated
that the above men were wood-choppers. About thirty Indians
had attacked the group of twelve wood-choppers on Twin Butte
Creek on September 19, 1868. Three of the party were
killed and nine of them were cut orf from escape to Fort
Wallace. At six o'clock the next morning Lieutenant
Grenville Lewis of the Fifth Infantry found the bodies

of John lMc Weil, Andrew Pratt, and Isaac Burwiclk,l2

10. Report of Sheridan, Appended List, in Report
of Secretary of War, 1868, pp. 13-15.

11. Letter, Aug. 27, 1868, in Gov. S. J. Crawford
"Correspondence."

12. This account differs from the preceding one in
that the other report listed among those dead Johnny O'Neil,
rather than John Mc Neil and Pat Malone, rather than
Andrew Pratt. Both accounts agree, however, as to the
number killed.
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All of the animals had been driven of.. A man named Jones,
the wood contractor, in the course of the attack had
abandoned his horse. e hid in lum trees in a ravine

and went to camp in the darkness ol ni ht.l5

Battle of the Arickaree

Depredations on the settlements reached a high
point in the summer of 1868. General Sheridan was unable
to spare men from his command to pursue raidin: Indians
and inflict punishment on them in retal’ation for thelr
raids on the settlements.’? 411 that could be done was
to defend the settlements and the transportation lines
as well as possible. In order to punish offending
Indians, however, other measures were necessary. The
need existed for a striking force to track down and punish
Indians who committed depredations. A company of fifty
select volunteers was pilcked to accomplish this task.

The full complement of the force was to be forty-seven men
and three officers. Brevet Colonel George A. Forsyth was
to command the organization with Lieutenant &. H. Beecher

as his second in comiand. The men composing the rest of

13. Report of Sheridan, Appended List, in Report
of Secretary of War, 1868, p. 1l3. See also, —omer i.
Wheeler, Buffalo Days (Indianapolis, 'he DBobbs-l‘errill

Company /¢ 1923, ¢ 1925/), p. 8.
1l4. See above p. 48.
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the smull force were scouts familiar with the ways of the
wily redskin. This select group was recruited at Fort
Harker and Fort nRays.

When the company had reached its complement,

Forsyth set out for Fort Wallace. The scouts moved across
the Saline and South Solomon rivers to Beaver Creek. From
there they preceeded to Fort liallace arriving there
September 5, 1868. A message from the governor awaited
asking them to move to Bison Basin to protect the settlers.
On the way to that place Forsyth received news of an attack
at Sheridan on a freighter's train near there. About
twenty or thirty Indians, a scouting party from the main
body of indians, had killed two teamsters and captured
the teams.l® It was the incident near Fort Wallace which
was to lead to the battle of Arickaree, a valiant fight
never to be forgotten in the West. In the words of General
Sheridan:

. . . This unexpected raid made Forsythe /sic/

hot to go for the marauders and he telegra hed

me for Egnmission, which I as prompcly gave him

Forsyth and his company proceeded on the trail of

the Indians. The first sigps of an Indian encampment

15, General G. A. Forsythe, /sic/ "A Frontier
Fight," Harper's Hew Monthly, XCI (June, 1895), 44.

16. Sheridan, liemoirs, . 303.
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revealed that they were on the trail of a larrer group
of Indians than they had expected %o find. 'hey en-
camped on the sixteenth of September on the Arickaree
Fork of the Republican River in Yolorado. Herse on the
morning of September 17, they were forewarned of attack
when the Indians stampeded a few of their horses stealing
some of them before the scouts could reach them. The
scouts retreated to a small island in the center of the
creek to await the expectea attack of the Indians.l7
The stream was not running, the channel on one side of
the island being dry and on the other side containing
about one foot of water. The Indians, estimated in the
official report of the incident to have numbered about
seven hundred, made several attacks.18 The attacks con-
tinued until nearly midnight. The first wave of attackers
swept by the 1sland on both sides facing a withering fire
from the besieged men. The next attack was attempted from
one side where there was tall grass. The Indians expected
to approach the island unseen. Many of them appeared on

the hill shout ng and firing to draw attention from those

17. "Attack on Colonel Forsyth's Command,"
Harper's Weekly, (October 17, 1868), 669,

18. Report of General Sheridan, In the Field, Fort
Hays, bansas, Oct. 15, 1868, in Report of Secretary of War,
1868, p. 18.
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going through the grass. While waiting for this attack,
the men had dug in. They noticed the Indians approaching
and whenever one appearcd throu . the grass he was hit
with a bullet.l®

At midnight Scouts Trudell and Stilwell volunteered
to start for Wallace for aid. The fort was only eighty-
five miles away, but the men, in order to circumvent the
Indians, were forced to go a distance of one hundred
twenty-five miles. By dawn they had covered only about
three miles of the distance, and were forced to hide all
of that day, September 18. They heard firing from the
island all day. They set off again at night. Several
times they encountered Indians but were able to hide
before being seen. About fifteen miles from Fort ‘allace
they met two colored scouts with messages for Colonel
Carpenter of H Troop, Tenth United States Cavalry, at
Lake Station seventy miles from the Arickaree. The
soldiers hastened to Carpenter with the message of the
scouts. Trudell and Stilwell reached Wallace September
20, to get troops to go to the relief of Forsyth.eo

Meanwhile, fearing that the first two scouts did
not get through with the message, forsyth allowed two

more volunteers, Scouts Jack Donovan and A, J. Pliley

19, Winfield Freeman, "The Battle of the Arickaree,"
Kansas Historical Collections, VI (1900), p. 350.

20. Ibidn, ppo. 554_-5560




69
to start for Wallace. They met Colonel Carpenter who
was on a scout attempting to locate Forsyth's command.
They led him to the camp on the morning of the ninth day
after the initial assault.<t The actual fighting which
had lasted four days resulted in a loss to Forsyth's
command of Lieutenant Beecher, a man named Moore who was
a civilian doctor from Fort Wallace, and scouts Culver and
Farley.22 The dead were buried in a shallow grave on the
island. Various estimates of the number of Indians
participating in the battle and the number of Indians
killed have been made but the official report giving the
number of Indians as seven hundred and the number actually
killed as thirty-five has never been successfully con-
troverted. The official report also stated many Indians
were wounded; Colonel Forsyth was wounded twice early in
the battle, but was able to direct operations from his
trench in the sand. fifteen of the scouus suifered wounds.
While waiting for relief the men subsisted for eight days
on horseflesh, which by the time relief came was spoiled.23

Lieutenant E. Bubler of the Fifth Infantry with

21. Freeman, "Battle of the Arickaree," p. 350.

22, Ibid., p. 354.

23. Report of General Sheridan, Oct. 15, 1868,
Report of Secretary of War, 1868, p. 18.
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elghty-six men of vompanies E and © of the Fifth Infantry
went to the battle site in December, 1868, to recover the
body of Lieutenant Beecher. The expedition left Wallace
Decenber 20. The weather was cold with snow lying on
the level from four to six inches deep. Sharp Grover, the
scout on the trip, estimated that there were eight hundred
lodges in the region or twenty-four hundred warriors.

WWhen the party reached the scene of the massacre they

found the bodies disinterred. The Indians they contacted
claimed they knew nothing about the bodies havin: been
disinterred or interferred with. The body of Lieutenant
Beecher was secured after it was identified by some
clothing he wore. The party returned to Fort Wallace
December 28, 1868.%% Ihis was the sequel to a great Indian

battle, one of the greatest fought on the plains.25

24, Report of Lieutenant E. Bubler at Fort Wallace
December 28, 1868," in "Fort Hays Letter File 1867, 168,
169," (National Archives Washington, D. C.).

25, The site of the battle ground is marked by a
monument. The island on which the fight took place has
ever since the battle been called Beecher's Island in
honor of Lieutenant Beecher. The site of the monument may
be reached by proceeding eighteen miles west of St.
Francis, Kansas, on United States Higlway 36 to the
junction with Colorado Highway 53, thence north nine miles.




Chapter V
RAIDS ON SOLOMON AND SALINE RIVER VALLEYS
Attacks 1864

Danger from Indian attacks was a real worry to
settlers on the frontier in 1864. The bulk of the United
States govemment troops were engaged in the Civil Var,
leaving a minimum number of troops to guard the vast
frontier. In this year attacks were taking place on the
Overland Route along the Platte River in Nebraska. Any
day the settlers of northern fansas expected to be en-
gulfed by a red tide from the north. Some raids did occur
in the spring of 1864, for six settlers were reporte to
have been killed in Saline, Ottowa, and ! itchell Counties.
The same spring a number of settlers banded together and
built Fort Solomon on the Solomon River in Ottawa County.
The majorlty of the people in the county lived in houses
within the enclosure from the summer of 1864 to the
spring of 1865.1 In the forepart of August, 1864, the
citizens of Republic and Washington Counties asked pro-
tection from indian depredations, They recommended the

arming of the settlers and the establishment of a post of

1. Andreas!' History of iansas, p. 1425.
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one or two squadrons of cavalry near Lake Sibley in southwest
Republic County.z Action was not taken on this request,
probably because the cavalry éould not be spared, and the
result was that every citizen, except a settler named
Conrad Meyers, left Republic County in 1864 because of an
Indian scare. In September, 1864, the settlers of Clay,
Cloud, Washington, and Republic Counties formed a militia
with headquarters at Elk Creek, (now Clyde), in Cloud
County. o

Buffalo hunters on Beaver Creek

Indians attacked and killed a party of four men,
buffalo hunters, on Beaver Creek on the north bank of the
Saline River about forty miles from Salina on August 6,
1864, Two of the men were brothers named Moffitt. With
them were two other men, one Tyler and one Hueston. They
had started from thelr ranch to kill buifalo for meat
taking a two horse team with them. When they reached the

top of a hill about three-quarters of a mile from the house

2. Letter, James G. Blunt, Major General Hdgrs.
Dist. of the Upper Arkansas to Major General S, R. €urtis,
Commanding Dept. of Kansas, Aug. 10, 1864, in 0fficial
Records of the War of the Rebellion, Series I, XII,

Part L, "Reports," p. 642.

3. Andreas' History of ransas, p. 1l032.
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the Indians were discovered rushing down upon them. @he
men apparently drove the team to a ledge of rocks, where
they prepared for the assault. They appeared to have
fought desperately, perhaps killing some Indians. The
Indians scalped three of the men killed, but they left one
scalp lying close by. The horses, probably the object of
the attack, had been shot through the head. No doubt

the ranchers did this to prevent their falling into the
hands of the Indians.

After burning the wagon, the Indians descended
upon the ranch house occupied by an old man and an old
woman. When the man shot through a hole in the wall
hitting one of the Indians, they all fled. The old
man and woman believed the Indians numbered about one
hundred.

When a messenger reported the news of the attack
to Salina, twelve citizens of that place led by Sergeant
Reynolds of "H" Company, Seventh Iowa Cavalry went to the
scene. They reported the facts of the incident, as nearly
as they could determine from the evidence of the strugle,

to army headquarters at Salina.?

4, Letter, Capt. Henry Booth, to Major General
Blunt, August 11, 1864 in Official Records of the War of
the Rebellion, Series I, XLI, Part 11, "Correspondence,"

pp. 659-660.
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Skirmish near Smoky Hill Crossing

From one hundred to three hundred Indians attacked
six soldiers of the Seventh Iowa Cavalry near Smoky Hill
Crossing on Elm Creek5 at 4:00 p. m. August 16, 1864.

The Indians massacred four of the men, but two men escaped.
A messenger with dispatches sent from Salina and Jroceed-
ing to Fort “arned, met the two men at .icodward's ranch
coming back witih them to Salina. The Indians in the attack-
ing party were a group moving south from t.e Fort Kearney
and Denver road. A Lieutenant Booth had been sent out from
Salina with ten men to scout the Republican River valley.
That there was a iarge body of Indians between the Smoky
Hill and Saline Rivers was known, but, with the scouting
expedition gone, there were no horses with which to
investigate the incident at Smoky Hill Crossing.6 This
reveals the meager protection afforded the frontier

in 1864, when the first consideration of the government

was the resolving of the civil conflict.

5. An article in The Republican Journal /Salina/,
January 31, 1902, found in "Indian Battles and De reda-
tions," Clippings, I, (Kensas State Historical Soclety
Library, Topeka), p. 140, locates this event as having oc-
curred on Elm Creek just west of Brookville.

6. Reports of Major General James G. Blunt,
August 18, 1864, in Official Records of the War of

Rebellion, Series I, XLlL, fart I, pp. 265, 264,
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White Rock, Jewell Count;, 1866

Pioneers had first attempted to settle Jewell
county in 1862. This attempt was frustrated by the
Indian menace, and the settlers left before suffering any
casualties. The second attempt at settlement came in
1866 in the spring and surmer when several families
settled near White Rock Creek in northwestern Jewell
County. Yne evening in the latter part of July a party
of about forty Indians, claiming tobe Sioux and Cheyenne
swept down upon the claim of John karling. The Indians
were well equipped with revolvers, carbines, and sabers,
part of them even wearing United States military uniforms.
They warred L.arling that the whites must leave their
hunting grounds and chased him down the creek. ne evaded
their eyes by crawling down the creek through brush on
his hands and knees. A horrible sight met his eyes when
he approached his home site. The Indians had plundered
the tent in which the family lived while they awaited
the completion of their cabin. They had loaded all of the
provisions, bedding, and clothing; from the tent and wagon

and had packed them on their horses. They dragged lrs.

Larling out, tore the clothing from her body, and ravished
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her. They took her young baby from her, play.ng it the
child by dangling beads in front of it. Marl.n-, able
to get to one of his horses and rode to the stockade near
where White .iock City 1l ter stood spread n +the alarm as
he went. The next day he returned with some o. the settlers
from the stockade. They found the nearly finished ca in
had been sacked and burned. Iirs. marling they found wander-
ing about in a dazed condition. They finally quieted her
and she gradually regained her rationality.7 The settlers
believing a general massacre had occurred fled first to a
stockade in Republic County then to one at Clyde in Cloud
County, They returned to the settlement two weeks later.8

In October, 1866, settlers from the White itock Creek
settlement anu spo.tsmen from .‘emaka County were led on a
hunting expedition by S. .. Fisher, of nepublic County.
They went southwest to Limestone Creek. There eighty
Indians surrounded the party. The hunters offered no
resistance to the Indians who stripped them of their
provisions, revolvers and revolver ammunition, allowing

them to keep their rifles and amunition. The Indians

7. Harvey E. Ross, What Price White Rock? (Burr
Oak, Kansas: The Burr Oak Herald /1937/), pp. 9, 10.
Apparently the Marling child was killed. The account
made no mention of what happened to it.

8. Ibid., p. 10
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warned the settlers to cease hunting in the area. They
took the advice and started home. They had to camp out
that night. The next morning a lone Indian rode into camp.
He demanded John Marling's powder horn. arling started
to struggle, but Fisher persuaded him to give it up
peaceably. The Indian took the powder horn, and as he
left he shot Fisher in the back. Fisher, not mortally
wounded, would not allow Marlin to retaliate. This
probably averted a massacre because undoubtedly the other

Indians were near by.9
Other Raids in the Area, 1866

Indians of uncertain number and of unknown tribes
made raids on the frontier settlements in the summer and
fall of 1866. On August 13, Indians killed August 'iillet,
a farmer living on the Solomon River. en named Haynes,
Roberts, Fallman, Castle and two brothers named Collins
were killed while hunting near Lake Sibley on the
Republican River r.ay 20, 1868. In August Indians, thought
to be Pawnees and Omahas raided on Lulu Creek, a tributary

of the Solomon, driving o:f the settlers and destroying

9. Ross, What Price White Rock?, pp. 10, 1l.
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their fields of grain., In the fall a hunter named Fox was

killed near Lake Sibley..C

Attacks, 1867

Attacks on Settlers

Attacks on settlers in the river valleys started
in June, 1867. Governor S. J. Crawford reported June
29, 1867, that nine Indians had gone into a small settle-
ment west of Lake Sibley and committed depredations.
They murdered and scalped two men and one boy, wourded
another boy, and took two women prisoners. They outraged
one of the women, then tomakawked her to death. The

other woman was taken as a prisoner.ll The governor

10. Report of Major General Cloud, idgrs. fansas
State Militia, Topeka, Kansas, November 30, 1866, in
Kansas Adjutant General, Annual Report, 1866, p. 4.
The massacre of the six hunters near Sibley is reported
as having occurred about May 6, 1865, in Andreas' History
of bangas, p. 1015. Daniel . Jilder, Ine Annals of
Ransas, (Topeka: G. W. lartin, 1875), p. 433, concurs
in the date of Nay 20, 18.6,., Wilder also lists the death
of a settler west of Lake Sibley, Uétober, 1866. This
was probably the hunter named Fox referred to in the
Adjutant General's Report. See llder, Annals of iansas,
P. 442,

11. To Senator Ross, Gov. Crawford, "Correspondence,"
1867, 1868. This letter was to protest the revoking of
Governor Crawford's authority for raising troops by
Genersls Sherman and Smith the day before. e ias alfter-
ward authorized to form four companies of volunteers
the 18th l-ansas Volunteer Cavalry.
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gave no clies as to the nmies o the individuals killed

or captured in the above raid, but fortunately another
letter gives clues to their names. It lists those killed
on the 'iepublican for lay 1866. The six hunters killed
near Lake Sibley are mentioned by name; hence their

names may be eliminated from consideration. Also listed

i1s a man named John Fott who may be the man named Fox
killed near Lake Sibley in 1866. This leaves the names

Mr. Smith, Mr. Ward, .lrs. Setson and her son, and a !.r.
Bartlett. They are listed as havin been slain. lard's
wife was the one taken prisoner accordin- to this report.lg
Another account blames the Cheyennes for the raid, setting
the date of the raid as A ril, 1867. This account states
that the raid was on the Jhite Rock settlers and lists
Erastus Bartlett, Nicholas Ward, a ! rs. Sutzer, and her
little son as those killed. rs. Ward, a young woman
twenty-two years old, was taken prisoner and the adopted

son of the .ards was wounded and left for dead.l®

12, Letter, John G. Haynes, Clifton, :ansas, %o
Gov. Crawford, October 6, 1867, in Gov. Crawford,
"Correspondence."

13. Ross, What Price White Rock?, p. 12. This account

leaves only the name Mr. Smith listed in the above letter
unaccounted for. This Mr. Smith could have been the
individual referred to as Millet, killed on the Solomon
River in 1866. See above p. 77.
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The Indians came to Mrs. Sutzer's cabin asking
for dinner. While she p 'epared it, she sen. her son to
inform the Wards that Indians we: e present. Bartlett
worked for brs. Sutzer. While returnin: to the house he
was ‘tomakawked and killed. rs. Sutzer was found dead
thirty yards from the cabin, obviously havin run when
Bartlett was killed. The Indians then went to Jards
demanding dimner. They ate, then talked pleasantly while
smoking thelr pipes. One of them asked Ward's opinion of
his rifle, then leveled 1t at him shooting him throu-h
the heart. [The Ward and Sutzer boy started to run, the
Indians followed killing the Sutzer boy and wounding the
iard boy. They then returned and took lrs. Ward captive.
Her fate was unknown, no trace of her ever having been
uncovered. This rald caused the settlers to leave Jewell
County, only one of the group ever returning.14

W. E. Webb, who was on what he ter ed a "semi-
scientific expedition" to the .est, told of findin  the
body of Dr. fose near .aconda on the Solomon iiver in
Mitchell vounty. He said that tie 'ndians had raided on
the creek below the ni_ht before.15 Jacob leek, an old

settler and buffalo hunter, explained about a pile of

14. Ross, What Price White Rock? pp. 12, 13.

15. W. &. Webb, Buffalo Land, (Cincinnati and

Chicago: Hannaford and Company, 1873), pp. 396-397.
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stones called "Old Settlers Grave" near Glen Elder, I'itchell
County. He said it was the grave of Dr. Rose, who when
killed, was on his way to his homestead claim. eek
was with two other buffalo hunters, and they met Dr.

Rose going to his claim just thirty minutes before his
death. A Catholic priest had joined the buffalo hunters
for protection. They met a group of Indians led by Black
Kettle, so said Meek, at a bend in the Solomon River.

The chief told them to go home, sending ten of his Indians
to accompany them along the way. The priest claimed his
presence in the party saved them from death. On the way
home they met four buffalo hunters and asked them to
accompany them on the road home. They refused to o and

Meek said that they were killed the same day. This action

Meek remembered as having occurred May 13, 186'7.16

There was still a chance of Indian attacks in the
early fall of 1867. A sebttler in the faline Valley,
Ottawa County, notified the governor September 23, 1867,
that there were squads of Indians on the headwaters of
Beaver and Salt Creeks. Buffalo, he pointed out, were
plentiful which was reason enough for Indians to be in
the vicinity. He asked that the citizens be given arms

and ammunition to protect themselves from possible attacks.1l7

16, "Indian Battles and Degredatlons," clippings, I
(Kansas State Historical Society L S5,

17. Letter, R. D. i.obley to Gov. Crawford, in Gov.
Crawford, "Correspondence."

brary), p.
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Battle on Beaver Creek

On August 12, 1867, Captain George A. Armes,
Commanding Companies "B" and "C" of the first Battalion
of the Eighteenth Kansas Volunteer Cavalry and Company
"F" of the Tenth United States Cavalry started on a
scouting expedition from Fort Hays. The expedition went
northward to the Saline River, thence northeast to the
Solomon River and scouted all of its tributaries westward
for forty miles. Captain Armes found a large trail run-
ning westward. He left his cormand on the Saline and went
with three men to Fort Hays for supplies. August 18, he
rejoined his command and the next day started on the trail
which led the troops on a seventy mile expedition to
Beaver Creek which was reached August 21. Armes halted
his command there to await a Captain Lewis'® /Jenness/
and several scouts wno had been sent out to scout for
Indians.

While eating breakfast, one of the mounted sentinels
was attacked by a single Indian. Armes moved out believing

more Indians to be in the vicinity. <The wagons were left

18. Report of Capt. George A. Armes, 19th U. S.
Cavalry, to H. C. Corbin, commanding Fort Hays, ~ansas,
in "Fort Hays Letter File, 1867, '68, '69." The name,
Lewis, probably was incorrectly copied. See copy of same
report in George B. Jenness, "The Battle on Beaver Creek,"
Kansas Historical Collections, IX (1906), 452, footnote.
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In his report Capt. Armes reported one dead, twenty-rour
woundcd, and eleven missini.
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Attacks 1868

In a telegram to Governor S. J. Crawford of Kansas,
General P. H. Sheridan proved a very poor p.ophet when
he said:

I am very well posted as to the position and

feelings of the main portion of the Cheyennes
and Arapahoes, and if any confidence can be
placed 1In thelr protestations they do not intend
to engage in hostilities. It is small prowling
bands that may give us trouble.
It was not small prowling parties that gave the settlers
trouble in 1868.°21

The general did kesep himself well posted and did
try to prevent trouule from occurring. In the sprin
of 186 , he went to Dodge City to investirate the
discontent of the young braves. He found them chafing
and turbulent. The Chiefs requested a conference, but
Sheridan was unable to comply with their demands because
the Peace Commission had been ap ointed by Congress to
have charge of the whole matter o. treatin with them.
When the Indians found that Sheridan could not treat with
them, they became more reckless and defiant. Sheridan
feared trouble when tae .uffalo returned to their suwmer

feeding grounds. He fed the lndians freely and tried to

control them through scouts ard interpreters, William

21, Telegram, June 16, 1868, in .ov. Crawford,
"Correspondence. "
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[Will/ Comstock, Abner S. Grover /Sharp irover/, and
Richard Pare. bBefore he returned to .'ovt  eavenwo: 5
Sheridan left tie mediators in the charge o/ Lt.
Beecher. Comstock ana Grove:r kept in contact i e
Chejennes wh le larr ke,t in contact with the Xiowas and
Comanches. Beecher, in contact with the scouts, relayed
the information they uncovered to Sheridan. Troubles did
occur along the railroad and stage routes occasionally,
but it was, said Sheridan, "satisfactorily adjusted."22

The encampments of the Indians near Fort Dodge
began breaking up in July, but instead of moving toward
their reservations the Indians moved north of the
Arkansas River. They raided the naw Indians near Council
Grove and stole their horses. They robbed the houses of
whites in that vicinity. rhis was the actual beginning
of the Indian difficulties of 1868. The issue of arms
to the Indians was to be suspended until reparations
were made for the raids. When the Indian agent at Larned
offered the Indians annuities without guns and pistols,
they refused to accept them. The young men held pow-wows
and war dances. When Brigadier General Sully informed
Sheridan of these activities, he was ordered to act against

the Indians. Proceeding to lLarned, he found what he

22. Sheridan, liemolrs, ppr. 283-288.
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thought to be chances for peace. The Indians came to him
stating that only a few bad young men had caused tro: 1G5
and everything would be all right if the agent would issue
them arms and ammunition. Sully ordered the arms turned
over. Even while the delivery was in progress warriors
had made their rdid on the Saline settlements.25 The
Indian agent, Wynkoop, felt that tie refusal of tahe lndian
department to issue arms earlier might have caused the
raids. He also believed:

« « . that a medicine man of the Sioux, who
had great influence, might have succeeded in
making them believe that they could compel the
white people to abandon the Smoky Hill
Country as they, the .Sioux, had compelled
the abandonment of the Powder River country.24

In July, General Sheridan's optimistic prophecy of
June 16, seemed unfounded. The Adjutant General of Kansas
reported:

In the month of July I made a tour of the
Solomon and Hepublican River settlements to
ascertain the condition of affairs there, and
from those long and well acquainted with frontier
life and Indian habits was fully satisfied that
their fears and apprehensions of danger were not
unwarranted and consequently made application to
General Sully, commanding at Fort Harker, for
one company of cavalry to each valley for pro-
tection. He appeared as apprehensive o. danger

23, Sheri_an, ..emolrs, pp. 288-290.

24, Gheport o General Sheridan, Sept. 26, 1868,
in Report of Secretary of War, 1868, p. 12.
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in those valleys as the settlers, but assured me
he could not s are any soldiers, that all were
actively engaged along the Arkansas .liver watching
Indian movements. He bitterly condemmned the
policy of issuing arms to the Indians.25

Raids on Saline and Solomon settlements

About August 3, 1868, nearly two hundred Cheyennes,
four Arapahoes, and about twenty Sioux, who had been visit-
ing their friends, the cheyennes, left their camus along
Pawnee Creek.2® Indians made a raid on Asher Creek a
tributary of the Solomon River, in Litchell County, August
13, 1868. David Bogardus a:!d his family, settlers on
the creek had company that day. Their nieces l:argaret
and Esther Jane Bell from Willow Springs, and Bracken Bell,
his wife, and baby daughter Ella were visiting them.
Margaret, age six, and Esther, ace four, playing on the
creek bank, sighted dust in the west. They soon noticed
that the dust cloud moved, and as it came closer, they
saw tnat it was made by mounted Indians. The rest of the
family, also noticing the approaching marauders, stepped

into the yard to await their coming. The Indians wore war

25, Adjutant Generals' Report, 1868, p. 6.

26. Report of Lt. Gen. Sherman, Nov. 1, 1868, in
Report of Secretary of War, 186, p. 3.
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paint and carried rifles, bows, and arrows, shields, and
lances.2’ The women prepared food ‘or the Indians and,
knowing they likedco.fee, gave some to them in tin cuvs.
They pretended to be offended by the tin cups and threw
the coffee in the women's faces. The bloodshed then
started.?® The Indians first shot Bracken Bell. UWhen
David Bogardus started for the house to get his rifle,
he was felled by a vo.ley of shots. rs. Bell tried to
assist her husband and was wounded, living for two weeks
after the massacre. The Indians then tried to get Mrs.
Bogardus on a horse, but failed when the Bell's dog,
Major, intervened. ..rs. Bogardus cried, "Soldiers,
soldiers!" and the Indians hastily left. They had placed
Margaret and Esther on horses, but left before they could
get the two Bogardus boys mounted. One of the warriors
attempted to scalp Ella, the baby, but fled after slashing
a wound in her scalp. The murdering band carried the two
small girls south all a ternoon. They changed their course
Southwesterly late in the evening. At noon the next day,
they decided to leave the girls behind. The girls walked

northeastward toward home. They subsisted three days on

27. Paul I. Wellman, "Indian Wars, bllpplngs, LI,
(Kensas State Historical Society Library, Yopeka), p. 196.

28, heport of Sherman, Nov. 1, 1868, in Report
of the Secretary of War, 1868, p. S.
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berries and the water from pools and creeks.22 They
were found near Spillman Creek, Lincoln County, by llart
Hendrickson. He took them home until their father Aaron
Bell came for them.%0

Other raids occurred on Asher Creek. 0ld settlers
D. R. Watstaff, A. M. Campbell, and . D, Sampson of
Saline County told of going in a party of twenty=five men
to the rescue of the settlers near where Glasco, Cloud
County, now is. Governor Crawford joined the party at
Delphos. They found about one hundred Asher Creek settlers
huddled in Scotsman Tom Huey's stone corral. Wagstaff
and a half dozen of the men went out to recover the bodies
of three boys named lkarshall and a man named Thompson.51
When the Indians had appeared in the vieilnity,; Miss Jeannie
Paxton, a school teacher herded her young charges to a
nearby farm house, getting all of them there safely except

a son of W, C, Snyder. He was wounded by the Indians and

29, Wellman, "Indian .ars, Clippings," III, pp.

30. Roenigk, Pioneer History of sangas, pp. 96, 97.
General Sheridan stated that the two little Bell girls had
never been heard of since their capture, Sheridan, Memoirs,
p. 291. Wellman states in his article that their father
went to Fort Harker for them, but credits lr. Hendrickson
with having found them. Wellman, "Indian Wars, Clippings,"
TCIEIEr, ey LEXS)S

31. "Indian Battles and Depredations," Clippings,
10 ) qero)es liEials = akese
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left for dead. He later recovered.®® Also at this same
. time Benjamin White, a settler living in northwestern
Cloud County was killed, and his daughter Sarah, ei hteen
years old, was taken prisoner.35 The samne day Gardon
Winbigler of Jewell County was killed near a foru in the
northern part of nepublic County. He was cutting hay with
a group of men who ran for the fort when they saw Indians
coming. Winbigler stooped to pick up his hat and was
killed when an Indian lance pierced his jugular vein. %4

This same summer, apparently at the time of the
above raids, Johnny Owens, a Lieutenant Higgins, and another
man whose name was unknown, were hunting buffalo in Usborne
County. They had halted their covered wagon on the west
side of Oak Creek about six miles from its mouth, when
suddenly a band of Indlan warriors came down upon them.
Lieutenant Higgins and the other man were killed. Owens
was able to kill the leader of the band. While the braves
gathered around their fallen leader, vwens ran for the

brush. He went down stream and hid under a lo, beneath a

32. Andreas' History of Lansas, p. 1015.

33, JIbid., p. 1016, Other accounts consulted agree
as to the death of lr. Jhite and the caiture of his dauchter,
but they do not agree as to the location. The Adjutant
Genersal's Report, 1868, p. 6, locates the incident on Buffalo
Creek, a tributary of tne Saline in Jewell Countr. ioenigk,
in his Pioneer History of Lansas, p. 132, locates the
incident at White <ock Creek in Jewell vount .

34, Andreas' History of sansas, p. 1032.
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pile ol driit-wooi. The indisns o unable 0 TAnd. hin.
On the second day he reached help at the stockade, near
the present site of Glasco. Owens led a party back to
the scene of the outrage where they found Lieutenant
Higgins' remains, scalped. They buried him on a vluff
that still bore his name in 1896.3%

The report of the raid on tlie settlements reached
Fort Zarah near the present site of Grea* Bend. uolonel
Benteen and a company o’ the Seventh Cavalry went to the
rescue. They rode seventy-three miles in about twenty-
three and one-half hours.®® Wnen they reached the Saline
River in Lincoln County they surprised the Indians who
were attacking the house of a Mr. Shermerhorn, where a
few settlers had gathered for defense. When the troopers
appeared the Indians scattered leaving no distinctive
trail.s?

Mart Hendrickson told Mr. Roenigk of another outrage
committed in the northwest cormer of Lincoln County in the

summer of 1868, The Indians, whom he believed to have been

35, M"Osborne County Clippings,”" II, (Kansas State
Historical Society, Topeka), pp. la, 2. Clipping from
The Downs Times May 28, 1896.

36, "Indian Battles and Depredations", III, p. 43.

37. Report of General Sheridan, Sept. 26, 186, in
Report of Secretary of War, 186., p. 1ll.
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Pawnees, fri  tened the settlers, stole their horses, and
captured three women. The raid was on the home of a
family named Bacon living on Bacon Creek. ir. Bacon hid
in a hollow log and escaped from the Indians. His wife
was one of the three women captured. All of them either
escaped or were set free. Hendrickson found !irs. Bacon
wandering alone on the prairie with only the yoke of her
bodice remaining on her body. ©She had either fallen off
her horse or the Indians had set her free. Givin her
his coat Hendrickson held her on his horse and carried
her to his home. ©She recovered and went to her home in
the east.%®

A party of Indians raided t.i.e Solomon Valley in
Ottawa County, October 13, 1868, killin four men,59
wounding a man named Morgan, and carrying his wife
into captivity. This was the only depredation committed
within the area after the state troops, vhe Nineteenth

40

Kansas Volunteer Cavalry took to the field. organ

had been gathering corn on a neighbor's farm close to

38. Roenigk, Fioneer History of nansas, pp. 94, 95.

39, Andreas' History of iansas, p. 1425, lists the
names of these four victims as: Peter Xarns, old ur. Smith,
John Andrews, and Alexander Smith.

40, Adjutant General's Report, 1868, p. 9.
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the river in the northern part of the county. When he
saw the Indians approaching he tried to unhitch his team.
He had to make a dash for the river without getting his
horses unhitched. The Indians wounded him, but he fell
over the bank, and the Indians left him for dead. One
of the horses freed himself and started for home. Mrs.
Morgan, seeing the horse, feared that the team had run
away and that her husband was dead. She hurried to the
field, and the Indians took her captive.41

The atrocities committed in the Solomon and Saline
valley in 1868 resulted in fifteen of the settlers losing
their lives. Three women and two girls were captured,
but either escaped or were released. Migs White and lMrs.
Morgan were also captured and remained captives until

after the battle of the Washita November 27, 1868.

Battles, Norton County

Major Carr and Company "L" of the Fifth United
States Cavalry camped on Prairie Dog Creek in Norton
County where Calvert is now located October 11, 1868,
An all day battle occurred with the Indians on this site.
Two soldiers were killed, but the number of Indian
fatalities was not known. In the same month, October 186,

Whistler's band of Sioux Indians surprised a Lieutenant

Valkamar and three companies of the Fifth United States

41, Andreas' History of Kansas, p. 1425,
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Cavalry. The attack started at daybreak. In the ensuing

battle Lieutenant Valkemar lost twelve soldiers killed.

The cavalry succeeded in driving off the Indians and
capturing two hundred horses. The fight is believed to
have occurred on a small tributary of the North Solomon,
Skull Creek, in Norton County. Bones and skulls were found

there after the county was settled.42

Kurder of Will Comstock, 1868

Just after the raid on the Solomon and Saline River
valleys Will Comstock, famous western scout was brutally
murdered by Indians near Big Springs Station on the head-
waters of the Solomon River. Of this inecident the official
report says:

Lieutenant Beecher, who was with his scouts on
Walnut Creek, hearing there was trouble on the
Solomon and Saline, but without knowing its nature,
dispatched Comstock and Grover to the camp of Turkey
Leg, on the Solomon, to be ready to explain in case
the white people were at fault. They were ordered
out of Turkey Leg's camp, and were followed by a
party of seven Indians, professing friendship and
while conversing with them were both shot in the
back--Comstock killed instantly and Grover
instantly /sie/ wounded; but by lying on the
ground, making a defense of Comstock's body he
kept the Indians off and made his escape in the
darkness of the night.45

42. Darius N. Bowers, Seventy Years in Norton
County, Kansas, 1872-1942 (Norton, nansas: The Norton
County Champion, 1942), pp. 3, 4.

43. Report of Sheridan, Sept. 26, 1868, in Report
of Secretary of War, 1868, p. ll.
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Custer in speaking of this incident stated that Comstock
with previous knowledge and experience did what he would
have cautioned others against in going into the Indian
Camp with only one other companion.44 Custer apparently
forgot that the men were only obeying orders. Custer
also stated that the object of the attack was to obtain
Comstock's white, ivory handled, beautifully finished
revolver.45 Sharp Grover, the wounded scout, spent the
next day after the attack in a ravine nearby, and the
following night set out for Fort Wallace arriving there

the following day. 46

Guilt for the raids of 1868

General Sheridan delayed striking the Indian camps
until he had fulfilled treaty terms by asking delivery
of the perpetrators of the crimes through Colonel Wynkoop
agent of the Cheyennes and Arsgpahoes. When asked by
Wynkoop to give up the outlaws, the Indians refused be-
cause they were unwilling to give up so many of their
young men; Ingstead of doing as requested they started

general warfare along the Smoky Hill and Arkansas roads.47

44, Custer, Wild Life on the Plains, p. 135.

45. Ibid., p. 136.

46, Sheridan, lMemoirs, p. 294.

47. Report of Sherman, Nov., 1868, in Report
of Secretary of War, 1868, p. 4.
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Black nettle's tribe of Cheyennes were believed
by the military to have been engaged in many of the raids.
Items found after the destruction of Black nettle's village
on the Washita River in the Indian Territory would seem to
confirm this belief. These were listed by General Sheridan
in the following paragraph from his report:

We found in Black nhettle's village photographs
and daguerreotypes, clothing, and bedding, from
the houses of the persons massacred on the Solomon
end Saline. . . . also a large blank /sic/ book,
with Indian illustrations of the different fights
which Black Lettle's band had been engaged in,
especially about Fort Wallace and on the line of
the Denver stages; showing when the fight had been
with the colored troops--when with white; also,

when traini had been captured and women killed
in wagons. g

The affidavit of Edmund Guerriere, educated half-breed,
who was with the tribes at the time of the raids made
in the summer of 1868, adds to the evidence against the
Cheyenne Indians.

Personally appeared before me, Edmund Guerriere,
who resides on the Purgatoire River, Colorado
Territory, who being duly sworn, testifi_s as follows:

I was with the Cheyenne Indians at the time of the
massacre on the Solomon and Saline Rivers, in Kansas,
the early part or middle of last August, and I was
living at this time with Little Rock's band.

The war party who started for the Solomon and
Saline was Little Rock's, Black nettle's, lMedicine

48. Report of General Sheridan, Hdqrs. Mil. Div.
of the Missouri, Nov. 1, 1869 in Annual Report of the
Secretary of War, 1869, found in "Annual Message of the
President, ' 41 Cong., 2 Sess., House Executive Document

No. 1, Part 2, I, Serial no. 1412, p. 48,
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Arrow's, and Bull Bear's bands; and, as near as
I can remember, nearly all the diifferent bands of
Cheyennes had some of their young men in this war
party which committed the outrages and murders on
the Solomon and Saline. Red Nose, ana The-man-who-
breaks-the-marrow-bones, (Ho-ek-a-mo-a-hoe,) were
the two leaders in this massacre; the former belong-
ing to the Dob Soldiers, and the latter to Black
Kettle's band. As soon as we heard the news by
runners, who came on ahead to Black rettle, saying
that they had already commenced fighting, we moved
from our camp on Buckner's Fork of the rawnee, near
its headwaters, down to North ‘ork, where we met
Big Jake's band, and then moved across the Arkansas
River; and when we got to the Cimmaron, George Bent
and L left them, and went to our homes on the
Purgatoire.
/s/ Edmund Geurriere
Witness:
J. Schuyler Crosby,
Bvt. Lieut. Col. U. S. A., Alde-de-Camp.%®

One should remember, before condemning Black Iettle and

the other chiefs of the Cheyenne Indians, that contrary

to popular opinion they did not have the authority over
their tribes that has been ascribed to them. Another

point to consider in viewing the guilt for these raids

is that in none of them were all of the Indians of a

tribe involved. Futhermore, it is rather surprising in

the light of the government's Indian policy, the Chivington
massacre, and invasion of their hunting ground by the
whites, that the Indians did not wage a more .eneral war

upon the whites.

49, Affidavit of Edmund Guerriere, Feb. 9, 1869,
in Report of General Sheridan, Now. 1, 1869, in Annusl
Report of Secretary of War, 1869, p, 46.
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Effect of raids on settlements

The people in the area raided in the summer of
1868 were particularly hard pressed. lany of them were
considereing the abaondonment of their homes. 1t was
necessary for the state to aid them and help them through
the winter. This need is shown in the following statement:

The parties in the Western portion of the State
crediting the State for forage, transportation,
services & c. /sic/ are all in needy circumstances
from the loss of crops and Indian depredations, and
it is but an act of justice to them that srovision
be made at an early day for their payment.

If provision was /sic/ made_for their payment dur-
ing the month of January /18697 it would relieve many
families now suffering for the necessaries of life;
and enable them to make the necessary preparations
for spring farming; without which many of them must
abandon their homes.

Soon after the raids the settlers in Ottawa County sent

a petition signed by twenty-eight heads of families, to
Governor Crawford. In it they requested relief madse
necessary by the Indian depredations. YThey pointed out
that they could not leave their families and o far enough
east to get work to support them.5l One of the settlers
protested in September that his settlement, Delphos, was

not receiving provisions. He stated that nepresentatives

50, Adjutant General's Report, 1868, p. ll.

51. Petition of Ottawa County settlers, August
26, 1868, in Gov. Crawford, "Correspondence," 1867, 1868.
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Potts and Dalrymple had distributed five or six tons of

provisions to the settlement above them, but they had

received nothing.sz

Raids of 1869

Mulberry Skirmish

The Indians were not the only ones who could be
brutal and could commit deliberate mass murder. On
FPebruary 1, 1869, a group of Pawnee lndians came to a settle-
ment in Lincoln County. They forced a woman named Mrs.
Skinner to cook for them., Settlers John Alverson, Eli
Ziegler, and Charles Smith went to get troops at nearby
Lincoln. A lieutenant with a dozen soldiers went back to
the settlement with the men the following morning. They
found the Indians at the home of Charles llartin where they
were begging for food and tobacco. The advance scouts
sent out by the party of settlers and soldiers failed to
hold the Indians who immediately scattered. iour of them
ralsed up from where they were hiding. One of them showed
his discharge papers from the Union Army. John Alverson

fired on them killing one. The Indians then started firing.

52. Letter, Alex C. Smith to Gov. S. J. Crawford,
Sept. 8, 1868, in Gov. Crawford, "Correspondence," 1867,
1868.
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The lieutenant at first decided to capture them and take
them to Harker, but the settlers insisted that they be
killed. An arrow hit the lieutenent's horse apparently
causing him to change his mind concerning the disposition
of the Indians. Sixteen Indians took refuge in a cave
from which they were smoked out by the settlers. All but
three of them were killed as they came from the cave.
Two of them were overtaken and killed. The Lieutenant
captured the survivor and took him to Fort Harker. In
the fray a soldier was wounded, dying later, and Eli
Ziegler was wounded. <The day following the massacre
Ziegler and Alverson saw a lone Indian whom they surmised
was the lieutenant's captive on his way back to the
Nebraska reservation. These two brave men tock no chances,
but went out and dispatched the Indian.®® To the
settlers and to the average man the only good Indian was
a dead Indian. Apparently it did not matter if they

were killed without provocation.

Attacks on settlements

An attack occurred in May, 1869, in the northern

part of Republic “ounty on White Rock Creek. One account

53, Roenigk, Pioneer History of ransas, p. 128.
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states that the Indians, numbering fifty, attacked the
set .lement and killed six men. One woman and two boys
were missing. Thirteen horses were run off and property
of all kinds destroyed. <The Indians were driven o.f by
the settlers.®® Another account of this same incident
shows that the whites killed were asking for trouble.
Seven hunters from Waterville were near the mouth of White
Rock Creek when they sighted Indians on the divide north
of the stream. They playfully fired at the Indians from
a distance; whereupon the Indians disappeared. That nicht
May 25, 1869, the hunters camped on the west bank of the
creek. The following morning they were attacked as they
left camp. The Indians killed two of the men when they sought
to cross the creek. One more they killed after he crossed
the creek. The others they butchered in the timber on the
west side of the creek. Only one of the party a J. Mc Chesney
escaped. This he accomplished by jumping and falling into
the water feigning death, then crawling along the river
under an overhanging bank. He escaped and got safely to
Scandia, 99

After raiding Fossil Creek Station May 28, 1869,56

the same band of Indians raided settlements on the Saline

54, Adjutant General's Reporit, 1869, p. 7.

55. Andreas' History of -ansas, p. 1032.

56, See above pp 52=55,
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River in Lincoln County. Tall Bull's Dog soldiers did
the raiding. They kill d and wounded thirteen men, women,
and children. They carried into captivity !irs. Susan
Alderdice and baby and Mr. George .'eichel. Alderdice,
the husband of lrs., Alderdice, returned from Salina after
the raid to find two of his children, ages eight and nine
years old killed; and one little boy pierced with two
arrows.%? The Weichels were immigrants from Hanover,
Germany. They had a gardner named Mayerhoff with them.
They had taken a c¢laim on Spillman Creek among the Danes
who could speak German. Sunday ray 30, 1869, they went
to the garden and were there attacked by Indians. The
two men defended themselves but were killed. Ilirs. Weichel
was captured, as related above, 28 Brigadier General Eugene
A, Carr started trailing Tall Bull and his outlaw Indians.
He destroyed Tall Bull's Village at Summit Springs (near
Sterling, Colorado) and drove off the warriors July 11,
1869. In their flight the braves killed lirs. Alderdice
and left Mrs. Weichel for dead, but she recovered. DMNrs.
Alderdice's baby had been strangled the third day after

her capture.59

57. Adjutant General's Report, 1869, pp. 7, 8.

58. Roenigk, Pioneer History of nansas, pp. 112, 113.

59. Rister, Border Captives, p. 162.
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On June 9, 1869, Indians raided Summerville in
Ottawa County. They surrounded the house of a Captain
Pierce. His son and Ben lkarkler held them off. The
Indians burned the Smithville postoffice and killed two
young men at that place named Dyer and John Wier. The
aim of the braves was principally plunder. The settlers
gathered a force and pursued the warriors killing one of
them as they fled.60
The Fifth United States Cavalry under Colonel
Duncan along with their Pawnee scouts had a fight with
Whistler's band of Sioux at the mouth of the South Fork
of Prairie Dog Creek, near where Almena now stands in
Norton County. They drove the Indians away, killed many,
and burned their village. William F. (Buffalo Bill) Cody,
wrote long after the battle concerning the events leading
up to it:
On September 16, 1869, while enroute from Ft. 'ays
to Ft. wePherson with dispatches, as I rode down
on the -rairie Dog, I heard firin  an riding up
to a high bluf. overlooking taie valley, and being
within a few hundred years of the river and about
thirty-five miles above the mouth of the stream, I
discovered a band of indians massacreing /sic/ a
surveying party. I was discovered by tne Indians,
a party of them numbering about twenty mounted
their ponies and started after me. I started sovuth

at no slow pace, I assure you; being well mounted
I soon left them far behind. I returned to

60. Andreas' History of sansas, p. 1425,
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Ft. Hgys and escorted three companies of the

5 cavalry and two companies of Pawnee scouts

back to the place where we found an lndian

v@llage consisting of five hundred lodges

with more. than a thousand wa:riors, besides

squaws and papooses.
Colonel Puncan in his report of the battle and circumstances
surrounding 1t, stated that the surveying party, numbering
thirteen, were all slain. A man named Buck was in charge
of this party, and the massacre has been termed the "Buck

Massacre, "62
Limestone Creek, 1870

Twenty or twenty-five Indians in lay, 1870,
attacked settlers living in Mitchell County on Limestone
Creek, a tributary of the Solomon River. They killed
three men who had been cut o f from their dugout which lay
across the creek. They were without arms and were killed
while trying to cross the river. One of the settlers,
John Grier was shot and in addition was tomahawked. The
raiders disposed of Solomon Miser with five arrows and
killed William henyon with two revolver shots. The

identity of the Indians was unknown.%%® This raid was

6l. Letter, W. F. Cody to Darius N. Bowers, Jan.,
1894, in Bowers, Seventy Years in Norton County vansas, p. 4.

62. Ibid., pp. 4, °.

63. Adjutant General's Report, 1870, pp. 5, 6.
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apparently the one which caused Major J. G. Tilford of
the Seventh United States Cavalry to write the Cormanding
Officer at Fort Hays explaining why he had kept Captain
Brewster and thirty men of "H" Company, Seventh Cavalry
out longer than the commanding officer might think
necessary. He stated that it had been urgent that
Brewster's force be used to strengthen forces on the
Solomon River, to keep down depredations that had
started there. The major did not feel that the force
should be removed, but he bowed to the orders of his
superiors and returned them to Hays.64

After 1870 1t became relatively quiet on the
frontier. There were minor plundering raids and several
Indian scares, but settlement by the whites was no longer
vigorously challenged. The buffalo were being thinned
out, and the railroads helped make retribution for any
raids swift and nearly certain. Thus i1t remained peace-

ful and quiet, for the most part, until 1878.

64, Letter, lay 22, 1870, in "0ld Letter File,
Fort Hays, bansas, 1869-70," (National Archives,
Washington D. C.).




Chapter VI
THE LAST INDIAN RAID IN KANSAS
Probable Causes

In the fall of 1878 a party of three hundred
northern Cheyennes left the reservation in Indian territory
and started north to join their friends the Sioux. In
their wake they left a trail of death and destruction
culminating in the rald on Sappa Creek in Decatur County
and the rald on Beaver Creek in Rawlins County. One of
the causes for the raid was the Indian's dissatisfaction
with reservation life.

The northern Cheyennes had agreed September 26, 1876,
to move to the Cheyenne and Arapahoe agency in the Indian
Territory. Nine hundred thirty-seven of them arrived in
Indian Territory August 5, 1877. The party of three hundred
led by Dull Knife left the agency September 9, 1878. Their
agent reported that they left because they were dissatisfiled.
They had not liked the system of issuing rations to heads of
families and to individual Indians. The warriors had at
first taken what they wanted orf the women's supplies. They
claimed they had not been party to the agreement of

September 26, 1876, and would only remain on the reserva-

tion as long as they chose to do so.
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The agent in charge of their agency claimed that
the Indians had been given ample rations and that chey had
been given no diseased meat. He reported that during the
time they were at the agency Dull Enife's band should have
received 1,420,589 pounds of subsistence supplies. They
actually received 1,475,320 ~ounds, a surplus of 54,731
pounds over the minimum required by treaty. The agent had
attempted to enforce a congressional provision that "all
able-bodied Indians between the ages of eighteen and forty-
five" should be assigned duties on the reservation. This
was done by withholding supplies to those Indians who
refused to work, as had also been provided in the act of
congress. The agent stated that the only supplies he
withheld at any time were coffee, sugar and tobacco.

The Indian Commissioner concluded that the respons-
ibility for the raid of 1878 should rest wit: the army for
its failure to disarm Dull Knife's band befo:-e bringing them
down to the reservation from the north. At the time they
were brought down he pointed out that they were carrying
Springfield carbines captured in the battle at Little Big

Horn.1

1. Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian
Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior, 1878 (Washington:

Government Printing Office, 1878), pp. xxii-zxiv,
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A reason why the marauding band picked the Sappa
Creek settlement in Decatur County as a place to pillage
and murder may lie in the vengeance motive. It was here
on Sappa Creek April 23, 1875, that a company of soldiers
under Lieutenant A. Hanley, aided by Buffalo hunters under
Hank Campbell had surrounded Bull Hump's village of
Cheyennes and had killed twenty-two of them including the
chief, “ull Hump.2 The idea that the Indians were seeking
vengeance for this attack in their murderous raid on the
settlement was concurred in by one of the settlers,

John E. Love.5
Raid on Sappa Creek, Decatur County

At the time of the raid, September 30, 1878, Oberlin,
Kansas, was a small village consisting of two stores, a
blacksmith shop, and half a dozen dwellings. Mrs. Emmett
Mgrtin, daughter of George B. Street, a settler on the
Sappa told of the raid. lirs. Kiefer, a widow with five
or six small children, lived six or seven miles south of
the Streets. A traveler had stopped at lirs. Kiefer's

place for dinner. The Indians approached the house during

2. Paul I. Wellman, article for Kangsas City Times,
May 28, 1939, found in "Indian Battles and Depredations,"
NGy el MEgel

3., Article in Topeka Capital, Jan. 30, 1938, in
dibildey D¥ Sw
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the noon hour. They had two girls named Van Cleave with
them. They allowed the girls to go ahead of them to the
Kiefer house. The girls were admitted into the house; but
when the Indians sought to enter, the traveler shot wound-
ing one Indian and causing them all to flee. The Van (leave
girls had been on the way to the railroad station. ey
were relatives of William Laing and his two sons who were
taking them to the station in a wagon. The marauders had
killed Mr, Laing and the two boys. They had captured the
girls.

Fleeing from the Kiefer home the Indians proceeded
two miles to the home of Ferdinand Westphalen who had a
wife, and six children. <hey all tried to escape. The
murderous band, however, killed the fathner and eldest son.
They also took a sum of money from Irs. \lestphalen,
wounded her with an arrow, then let the family ro.

They next kill d E. . Humphrey and wounded his son,
John. While the Indlans stopped to prepare ani eat their
noon meal in an empty farm house, John went ahead to the
Streets warning them of the impendin: dan;er. The Streets
all took refuge in a rock cave on a clif’', They went into
the cave on lionday ana did not come out until Jednesday.4

In the raid on the Sappa at least eleven more men

ere killed then were mentioned in the above revort. Iin

4, "Indian Battles and Depnredations," IV., n». 60,

61l.
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addition to wWilliam Laing and two sons the o licial
report lists another son, making a total of four killed
in the Laing family. The official report also lists
John Humphrey as dead, he no doubt having died from the

wounds he sui‘fered.5

Raid on Beaver Creek, Rawlins County

A report from Beaver Creek in Rawlins county stated
that after the Northern Cheyennes raided October 1, 1878,
the settlement was virtually wiped out. A ur. Stiner and
his son were reportedly killed.® The Indians ran lirs.
Stiner into the woods and abused her. The report further
stated that every man down the creek to Abbott's place
from the Stiner place was killed. Abbott's son was killed.”’
The writer also mentioned that all of the horses of the
settlement were stolen, and that the Indians killed all
other animals, even cats. Two of tue reporter's children,
both boys, were taken by the Indians. +rhey related that

the Indians asked where their mother was. They replied

5. For lists of those killed and letter of VWilliam
D. Street see Appendix C, D, and E.

6., The official report lists Antone Stenner as killed
in Rawlins County. See Appendix C. This is probably the
Stiner referred to. No reference is made to his son.
™

ADDendlXx U.
e

7. This was George H. Abbot. See list
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that they had none. When asked where they lived the boys
replied, "Way down East where there are lots of white men."
The Indian band forced the boys to eat dinner with them
then turned them toward the east and said, "io." <1lhe boys
lost no time in leaving.8 A total of twelve men were killed
on Beaver Creek.? Another man was wounded on the North
Solomon and died on Prairie Dog Creek, beptember 29, 1878,

A total of at least thirty men were killed in northwest

Kensas in this one raid.1©
Settlement of Claims

A commission was appointed to investigate claims
against the United States government for loss and damage
to property by reason of the raid of 1878. Notices of
the meetings of the commission were published in papers
in the northwest part of the state. i.eetings were held in
Dodge City, Hays City, and Norton. The commission allowed

a total of $101,766.83 in claims.ll

8. Letter of woman living in Sappa country, October
5, 1878, in The Press /Wellington/, November 7, 1878, as
copied from The Denver Tribune, found in "Indian ramphlets,
1855-1885," I, (Kansas State Historical Society Library,
Topeka).

9. For names of others killed see Appendix C.

10. Letter, William D, Street to G. ». lkartin,
Sept. 28, 1910. Copy in Appendix, pp. 120, 121.

11. Adjutant General's Report, 1879, 1 .80, p. 55.
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Indians Brought to Trial

Dull Knife's band was pursued by the United States
Army and all except about seven of the braves were killed
near Fort Robinson, Nebraska.l? The following indians
were turned over to the state of cansas by the army in
Pebruary, 1879: Wild Hog, 0ld Crow, Big Head, Left Hand,
Blacksmith, Porcupine and Nose Walker, 13 The trial was
to have been held at Dodge City, in Ford County, but a
change of venue moved the trial to Lawrence in Douglas
County. 0ld Crow was discharged from tue custody of the
state when a nolle prosequi was entered by the county
attorney of Ford County in his case. 0ld Crow had served
in the Union Army during the Civil .ar, and he claimed
that he had been forced to go on the raid. 4
A letter from Dodge City explained the technicali-
ties involved in trying the six remaining Indians:
As the case of the Cheyenne prisoners now stands,
Wild Hog, 01d lkan, /sic/, Left nand, Frizzly Head /sic/,
Porcupine, and Blacksmith will be tried at Lawrence,
sagnsas, in October, 1879, or sooner, 1f ordered, for

the high crime and misdemeanor of murdering citizens
of nansas in Sept. /sic/ and Uctober 1878. This trick

12, "Indian Pamphlets," 1855-1885, I, clipping
from the Topeka Commonwealth, Feb. 26, 1879.

13. Adjutant General's Report, 1879, 1880, p. 55.

14. "Indian Pamphlets," 1855-1885, I, clipping
from Atchison, Lansas, Champion, June 29, 1879.
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is one I think but little understoad /sic/ by the
generality of the citizens of nansas. The general
understanding of the people of the country at large
was, I think, that the trial of tne Cheyenne -ndian
prisoners was for all the crimes, murders, etc.
committed in the whole state in the late raid. .t
now appears that each Judicial District, through
the county attorney of each county in said Judicilal
District takes cognizance at law for the crimes
comittel in the several counties of each said
Judicial District. This mode of judicial procedure
in the case of the Cheyenne indian murderers is 15
equivalent to a positive acquittal of the prisoners.

The Indians at the close of their trial were released and

returned to their reservations.16

15. "Indian Pamphlets," 1855-1885, I, letter in
Atchison, Kansas, Champion, June 29, 1879.

16. Adjutant General's _Reporit, 1879, 1880, p. 55.




Chapter VII
CONCLUSION
Cost of the Raids

Between 1864 and 1878 approximately 160 civilians
were killed in northwestern fansas. Of this number about
forty-three were killed dlong the transportation lines,
the Smoky Hill route and the hansas Pacific Railroad.

Most of them were employees of either the railroad or of
the stage and freight lines operating on the Smoky Hill
route. The remainder of the 160 civilian deaths resulted
mainly from Indian raids on settlements., During this same
period at least forty-four soldiers were killed while
trying to protect the settlements and the transportation
lines from the marauding bands.

In their raids the indians took numerous captives,
usually releasing them before leaving the vicinity of the
raid. In this study there are mentioned nine captives who
were taken with the Indians when they left the site of
their raids. Of these nine captives all except two women
were subsequently released after a period in captivity.
Those released through the aid of the United States Army
were the four German girls, Miss Sarah hite, Mrs. uWorgan,

and lrs. Weichel. The fate of Mrs. Jard another captive,

is unknown. krs. Alderdice who was captured by the same
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tribe as Mrs. Weichel was killed by Tall Bull's band at

Sunmit Springs, Colorado, before the military could
offect her release.

Beslides those dead and captured a large number
were wounded in these raids. Livestock including cattle,
horses, and mules were either killed or stolen by the
raiding Indians. In many cases homes and transportation
stations were burned. The total cost of all these railds
were not assessed in terms of monetary values, but some
appreciation for the total cost may be gained by noting
that $101,766.83 in claims against the United States
government were allowed for damages and loss of property
sustained by the settlers in the Dull Knife raid.

In reckoning the cost of the raids the fact that
the Indians also suffered losses in dead and wounded
should not be overlooked. The exact number of Indians
who lost their lives will probably never be known. Even
the approximate number can not be calculated. Unlike
the whites, the Indians kept no records. The bodies of
the braves were seldom left where they fell for the whites
to count; consequently most accounts of the number of
Indians killed in a battle are only guesses made by the
whites.

The great loss of life on both sides, the large

number wounded, and the loss and damage to property must
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all be counted as a part of cost of opening up the frontier
for settlement. Without the bullding of the Union Pacific
railroad main line and the building of the Union Pacific
Eastern Division, later termed nansas Pacific, settlement
would have been nuch slower. Some of the cost of building
the last named railroad has been recounted in this study.
Certainly the people who inhabit this region today owe a
debt of gratitude to those intrepid railroad laborers,
soldiers, and pioneer settlers who faced the rigors of
frontier life to build a solid foundation for future

growth and progress.
Recommendations for Further Study

In the period after 1869 up to 1878 when it was
relatively quiet in northwestern lansas there were a
number of raids in southwestern Kansas. A study similar
to this one for that area would be a rruitful field for
research. Similar studies could be made for the eastern
half of the state. Some idea of the total number of
people killed by Indians within the state's borders would
then be availlable. Ano ner study suggesting 1tself as
a result of this study is the need for a general study

of the whole problem of building the Union Pacific

Railroad Lastern Division.




APPENDIX A

Collisions of U, S. troops with Indians, 186'7l

Mission In Command Place Losses

May 25 Stage Escort Non-com Big Timbers One non-com

wounded
May 27 7 Cavalry Capt. Pond Cr. Sta. Cont. herd
Keogh run off §
head cattle
slaughtered
June 10 Stage Escort Not 3 mi,i. Big One E. I,
known Timbers killed, 1
wounded
June 11 Stage Escort Not Smoky Hill One E. 1.
known Route killed guard-
ing mail coach
June 21 Det. 7 Cav. Not Fort llallace Wagons going to
known quarry attacked

2 BE killed, 2
wounded, 1 wag.
2 cav. horses «
7 mules captured.

June 22 Det. 3rd Inf. Lt. J. Fort Wallace 2 E K killed,
Hale 2 wounded

June 22 Det. 37th Inf.Sgt. Goose Cr.Sta. 2 E i wounded
Mc Donald

June 26 Co. G. & Cav. Capt. A. 3 mi. YW. Fort Indians attempt-
Baintz dallace ing run off
stock fr. Pond
Cr. Sta.
6 & i killed &
6 wounded

Aug. 2 18 Kans. Cav. Capt. G. Saline River 1 E ! killed, 1
A. Ames oef.

1. From table in Annual Report of Secretary of war,
1867, p. 46.




Aug. 21 10 Cav. &
18 KansasCav.

Sept. 19Det. 5 Inf.

June 14 Det. 37 inf.

Ames

LiGe
ason
Howard

Not
known

beaver Cr.

Walkers Cr.
35 mi. from
fort farker

Grinnell
Springs
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3 B killed 35
wounded 4 horses
lost

2 ind. killed;
slv. wounded
1E killed;
3 wounded

1 E N killed




APPENDIX B

List of United States Express Company destroyed
by Indians on the Smoky Hill Route?

Date Place Property How Destroyed Remarks
1867
Apr.15 Lookout Station 8 horses Stolen

2 sets Harness Burned

40 tons Hay E

140 bus. Corm .

13 Bus Oats ]

1 Freight wagon "
Fixtures for

Station Burned
16 On the Road 10 mules Stolen
Load of
Commissary Stolen
17 Chalk Bluff 24 Horses L Stock bunched
6 Sts Harness Cut to pileces
18 Walkers Creek Station Burned
65 Tons Hay "

130 Bush. Corn "
100 Bush. Oats i
Stable Fixtures

21 Chalk Bluff 8 Horses Stolen
24 Russells Springs8 Horses "
. 1 Mule I

2 set Harness Burned

150 Tons Hay i
Apl.29 Goose Creek 260 Bus. Corn  Burned

175 Bus. Oats I

20 Cords Wood o

Fixtures for

Station Burned
Fixtures for
House Burned
lay 9 Monuments 75 Tons Hay .l
Willow Springs 8 Horses Stolen
2 lules i

2. "Fort Hays Letter File, 1867, '68, '69."




Date

1867
May 12

June 4
10
12
Junelb
16

June2l
26

June 26

Place

Lake Station

Henshaw

Goose Creek
Hugo Springs
Cedar roint
Deerings Wells
On iload

Russell Springs

Henshaws Spgs
Pond Creek
On Road

Bunker Hill
Pogsile Creek

Property

14 Horses

110 Tons Hay
250 Bush. Corn
200 Bush. Oats
2 Buggies

3 Sets Harness
Store Housge
and Contents

2 Cows

2 Ox Vagons

) FI‘gt 1"

Horses
Mules
Set Harness

Hi 0 OB O
= 4
c
=
o
w

4 Horses
4 Horses

How Destroyed

Burned
1

Stﬁlen

120

Remarks

1 Man Killed

Commissary
Stores

1 Killed

Soldier and
Driver
Killed

More or less of coaches have been fired into and injured.

One passenger Killed and two wounded

1 Mail guard Killed.

Three Soldiers on coaches Killed.

Five i

n

Two Employees of Co Killed.

wounded

A true copy
C. wmcKeever
Asst. Adjt. General




APPENDIX C

Persons Killed in Raid of 1878%

Name Age Home Address

1. Reuben Buston 21 Comanche Co Ks

2. Fred Clark

5. Frank T. Dow 23 Boston, liass.
4. Washington O!'Conner Chicago

5. John Evans 30 Kentucky

6. Geo, Simmons Tennessee

7. William Laing 53 Decatur County Ks.

8. John C., Laing 20 " "

9. William Laing 17 ) s

10. Freeman Laing 15 4 E

11. John C. Hudson Jackson Co Iowa
12. Jas. G. Smith 50 Smith Co ks,
13. Antone Stenner 41 Rawlins Co Kg,
14. Frederick Hamper 41 Decatur Co Ks,.
15, E, P, Humphrey 60 Decatur Co »sg.
16, John Humphrey 30 " "
17. Rudalph Springler 41 Rawlins Co. »s.
18, Geo. H. Abbot 19 Rawlins Co Ks.
19. Ger. Walters Decatur Co Ks.
20. Hynek Janosek 44 Rawlins Co ns.
21, Peter Janosek 38 Bohemia
22. Frank Sochar Rawlins Co Ks.
23, Arnold Kubitz Rawlins Co. Ks.
24. Marcellus Felt lMoved East
25. Moses Abernathy 56 Norton Co Ks.
26. Ed Wiskelley Gove Co ns.
27. Albert Foster 25 Unknown

28, Unknown killed in Clark Co Ks.
29, Unknown killed in Barbour Co. Ks
30, Unknown " ) , "

31 . UnknOWn i 1 11 1t

52 | Unknown 1] it It 1

Sustained by iansas Citizens . .

3. Report of the Commission . . . Relating %o Losses

, 1878, (Topeka: Geo. W,

Martin, tansas Publishing House, 1879) found in "Indian
Pamphlets," 1855-1885, I. Punctuation same as original.




APPENDIX D
Letter Regarding Casualties in Raid of 1878

In relation to the number killed in the last Indian
raid through Kansas during the month of September and Oct.
1st, 1878,

‘he report of the Indian Commission that investigated
losses during that raid places the number killed at 32!
Later investigation by private parties fixes the loss,
including those who died of their wounds at not less than
41 men.

The first six names on the list as made up
by the Commission were killed in the South part

of the state B¢
Wounded on North Solomon, dies on Prairie Dog Lo
Creek, Sept. 29,

On Sappa creek, in Decatur County Sept. 30. T
On Beaver credc in Rawlins county Oct. 1lst, 13
Unknown in Clark county, dLc
Unknown in Barber county, 4.
Total in wsansas, not less than 41,

The name of Albert Foster, unknown, as given in
the report of the Indian Commission, i1s probably counted
in the number killed in Rawlins Co., name given as Alexander
Foster. If this should be the case, the number given above
is possible correct, though there may have been other names
omitted from the loss in the south part of the state, as

in the north part. If the above is not one and the same

person then the loss would be at least 42.
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The names of the killed not given in list reported
by the Indian Commission, follows:

John Your, wounded on North Solomon, Died on
Prairie Dog Creek.

Mr. Lull.

Ferdinand Westfall (or VWestphalen) and son.

John Irwin and John Wright, killed on Sappa creek
in Decatur cowty.

Henry Shilder, W. J. karshall and Rev. George
Fennberg, Alexander Foster, killed on Beaver creek
in Rawlins co.

Above information furnished by, Wm. D. Street

Oberlin Kansas.

(In his letter to G. W, Martin, Sept. 28, 1910)4

4, Typed copy found in "Indian Pamphlets," 1855-1885,
I. Copy pasted in the front of the Commission Report cited
in preceding note.




APPENDIX E

List of Those Killed in Decatur County in Pull Knife's Raid,
1878°

Wm, LainE

John C, Laing

W:. Laing, Jr.
Freeman Laing

Vo g ermiga
Frederick Hamper
Ed HMiskelley

Mr. Wright

E. P. Humphrey
John Humphrey
Moses Abernathy
George I. Walters
Marcellus Felt
Ferdinand Westphaled & son
Mr. Iull

Mr. Irwin

5. Andreas', History of Kansas, p. 1613.
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State Historical Society Library, Topeka.

Clippings of newspaper feature articles by Mr.
Wellman relating to Indian difficulties in Kansas.
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